
 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  
CITY OF BAY CITY 
Tuesday, March 09, 2021 at 6:00 PM 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS | 1901 5th Street 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Mayor: Robert K Nelson  
Mayor Pro Tem: Jason W. Childers 
Council Members: Brent P. Marceaux, Becca Sitz, Floyce Brown, Jim Folse 

Bay City is committed to developing and enhancing the long-term prosperity, 
sustainability, and health of the community. 

AGENDA 

 

 THE FOLLOWING ITEM WILL BE ADDRESSED AT THIS OR ANY OTHER 
MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL UPON THE REQUEST OF THE MAYOR, ANY 
MEMBER(S) OF COUNCIL AND/OR THE CITY ATTORNEY: 

 

  ANNOUNCEMENT BY THE MAYOR THAT COUNCIL WILL RETIRE INTO CLOSED SESSION FOR 
CONSULTATION WITH CITY ATTORNEY ON MATTERS IN WHICH THE DUTY OF THE ATTORNEY 
TO THE CITY COUNCIL UNDER THE TEXAS DISCIPLINARY RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 
OF THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS CLEARLY CONFLICTS WITH THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT (TITLE 5, 
CHAPTER 551, SECTION 551.071(2) OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE). 

  

CALL TO ORDER 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE 
Texas State Flag Pledge: "Honor The Texas Flag; I Pledge Allegiance To Thee, Texas, One 
State Under God, One And Indivisible.”  

Councilman James Folse 

CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

MISSION STATEMENT 
The City of Bay City is a community that fosters future economic growth, strives to deliver 
superior municipal services, invests in quality of life initiatives and is the gateway to the great 
outdoors. We encourage access to our unique historical and eco-cultural resources while 
maintaining our small-town Texas charm. 

Councilman James Folse 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
State Law prohibits any deliberation of or decisions regarding items presented in public 
comments. City Council may only make a statement of specific factual information given in 

Page 1



Agenda City Council Regular Meeting March 09, 2021 
 

 
response to the inquiry; recite an existing policy; or request staff places the item on an agenda 
for a subsequent meeting. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Minutes of Council Workshop Meeting on January 26, 2021 

2. Minutes of Regular Council Meeting on January 26, 2021 

3. Minutes of Council Workshop Meeting on February 23, 2021 

4. Minutes of Regular Council Meeting on February 23, 2021 

REGULAR ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND/OR APPROVAL 

5. Report ~ Review residential usage of the HHW Solutions.Krystal Mason, Code 
Compliance Officer 

6. Report ~ Bay City Police Department Annual Report and Highlights. 
Robert Lister, Chief of Police 

7. Ordinance ~ An Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the City of Bay City, 
Texas, Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021A 
(CWSRF); authorizing execution and delivery of a paying agent/registrar 
agreement and an escrow agreement relating to such certificates; prescribing 
the form of said certificates; levying a tax and pledging surplus revenues of the 
water and sewer system in payment thereof; and enacting other provisions 
relating thereto.Scotty Jones, Finance Director 

8. Ordinance ~ An Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the City of Bay City, 
Texas, Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021B 
(DWSRF); authorizing execution and delivery of a paying agent/registrar 
agreement and an escrow agreement relating to such certificates; prescribing 
the form of said certificates; levying a tax and pledging surplus revenues of the 
water and sewer system in payment thereof; and enacting other provisions 
relating thereto. 
Scotty Jones, Finance Director 

9. Report ~ Update on Winter Event within the community.Shawna Burkhart, City 
Manager 

10. Declaration ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve a Declaration of Local State of 
Disaster.Robert K. Nelson, Mayor 

CLOSED / EXECUTIVE SESSION 

11. Pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.087, (1) to discuss commercial 
or financial information that BCCDC has received from a business prospect that 
BCCDC seeks to have locate, stay, or expand in Bay City and with which BCCDC 
is conducting economic development negotiations; and/or (2) to deliberate the 

Page 2



Agenda City Council Regular Meeting March 09, 2021 
 

 
offer of a financial or other incentive to a business prospect described by 
Subdivision (1). 

OPEN SESSION 
Discuss, consider and/or take action on item(s) listed in Executive/Closed Session, (if any). 

ITEMS / COMMENTS & MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 

ADJOURNMENT  

AGENDA NOTICES: 

Action by Council Authorized: The City Council may vote and/or act upon any item within this 
Agenda. The Council reserves the right to retire into executive session concerning any of the 
items listed on this Agenda, pursuant to and in accordance with Texas Government Code 
Section 551.071, to seek the advice of its attorney about pending or contemplated litigation, 
settlement offer or on a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the governmental body under 
the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar of Texas conflict with the 
Open Meetings Act and may invoke this right where the City Attorney, the Mayor or a majority 
of the Governing Body deems an executive session is necessary to allow privileged consultation 
between the City Attorney and the governing body, if considered necessary and legally justified 
under the Open Meetings Act. The City Attorney may appear in person, or appear in executive 
session by conference call in accordance with applicable state law. 

Attendance By Other Elected or Appointed Officials: It is anticipated that members of other 
city board, commissions and/or committees may attend the meeting in numbers that may 
constitute a quorum of the other city boards, commissions and/or committees. Notice is hereby 
given that the meeting, to the extent required by law, is also noticed as a meeting of the other 
boards, commissions and/or committees of the City, whose members may be in attendance. The 
members of the boards, commissions and/or committees may participate in discussions on the 
same items listed on the agenda, which occur at the meeting, but no action will be taken by such 
in attendance unless such item and action is specifically provided for on an agenda for that 
board, commission or committee subject to the Texas Open Meetings Act. 

Executive Sessions Authorized: This agenda has been reviewed and approved by the City’s 
legal counsel and the presence of any subject in any Executive Session portion of the agenda 
constitutes a written interpretation of Texas Government Code Chapter 551 by legal counsel for 
the governmental body and constitutes an opinion by the attorney that the items discussed 
therein may be legally discussed in the closed portion of the meeting considering available 
opinions of a court of record and opinions of the Texas Attorney General known to the attorney. 
This provision has been added to this agenda with the intent to meet all elements necessary to 
satisfy Texas Government Code Chapter 551.144(c) and the meeting is conducted by all 
participants in reliance on this opinion. 

CERTIFICATION OF POSTING 

This is to certify that the above notice of a Regular Called Council Meeting was posted on the 
front window of the City Hall of the City of Bay City, Texas on Friday, March 5, 2021 before 

Page 3



Agenda City Council Regular Meeting March 09, 2021 
 

 
6:00 p.m. Any questions concerning the above items, please contact Mayor Robert K. Nelson 
at (979) 245-2137. 

Page 4



 

Bay City  Page 1 

CITY OF BAY CITY 
MINUTES  JANUARY 26, 2021 

COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS | 1901 
5th Street 

City Council Workshop 5:00 PM 

1901 5TH STREET 
BAY CITY TX,77414 

 

  

 

  

  Mayor   

  Robert K. Nelson   

Councilman  Councilman  Councilwoman 

Jim Folse  Brent P. Marceaux  Becca Sitz 

Mayor Pro Tem    Councilwoman 

Jason W. Childers    Floyce Brown 

 

Bay City is committed to developing and enhancing the long-term prosperity,  
sustainability, and health of the community. 

  

Page 5

ITEM #1.



Minutes City Council Workshop  January 26, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 2 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Robert K. Nelson called the meeting to order at 5:03 PM. 

CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

Mayor Robert K. Nelson certified that a quorum was present. 

PRESENT 
Mayor Robert K. Nelson 
Mayor Pro Tem Jason W. Childers 
Councilwoman Floyce Brown 
Councilman Jim Folse 
Councilman Brent P. Marceaux 
Councilwoman Becca Sitz 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

There were not any public comments. 

REGULAR ITEMS  FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND / OR APPROVAL 

 

1. Discussions regarding Utility fee changes. 

Barry Calhoun, Public Works Director, stated that the City is trying to gather funds for 
major capital improvement projects, 2 new water plants, improvements to existing 
water and waste water, and that the City has applied for low interest loan to help fund 
projects. We visited utility rates structure to see if can make adjustments to help fund 
projects and did a study. After fee adjustments customers were impacted and we 
received a lot of complaints. So we adjusted one section of utility rate to help alleviate 
cost and are seeking ratification on adjustment. 

Scotty Jones, Finance Director, added that the volume metric rate that nearly doubled 
in residential rate and the quick solution - took volume metric rate on water side, 
changed to 5000 rate instead of 10000 rate.  

There are different customer class - residential, multifamily (apartments, condo, hotel), 
commercial, industrial; each charged a little differently. 

Dan Olsen with Garver added that the conservation rate is referring to tiering structure 
based on what you use. 

 

 

Page 6

ITEM #1.



Minutes City Council Workshop  January 26, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 3 

 

2. Discuss and consider location(s) for Splashpad. 

Shawn Blackburn, Parks & Recreation Director, presented the location options 
suggested by the advisory board: 

1. Amistad Park met all criteria - listed in master plan 

2. Riverside Park would help create revenue, not easily accessible to foot traffic.  

3. Hardeman Park, least favorite due to the youth soccer has lease for this land. 

Mayor Nelson stated that Amistad Park was more localized. Councilman Marceaux 
asked about groups for birthday parties and Mr. Blackburn replied that they may need 
to get pavilion for it. Councilwoman Sitz stated that she is hesitant on Amistad,  and 
asked if we only considered city properties that has facilities and Mayor Nelson replied  
that they did look at other properties but cost is more exponential. Councilwoman 
Brown stated that Amistad Park sounds great. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made by Councilman Folse to adjourn, Seconded by Councilwoman Brown. Voting 
Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, 
Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried and Council adjourned at 6:09 pm. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED, this ____ day of _____________, 2021. 

 

   

ROBERT K. NELSON, MAYOR 

CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

JEANNA THOMPSON 

CITY SECRETARY 

 

Page 7

ITEM #1.



 

Bay City  Page 1 

CITY OF BAY CITY 
MINUTES  JANUARY 26, 2021 

COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS | 1901 
5th Street 

City Council Regular Meeting 6:00 PM 

1901 5TH STREET 
BAY CITY TX,77414 

 

  

 

  

  Mayor   

  Robert K. Nelson   

Councilman  Councilman  Councilwoman 

Jim Folse  Brent P. Marceaux  Becca Sitz 

Mayor Pro Tem    Councilwoman 

Jason W. Childers    Floyce Brown 

 

Bay City is committed to developing and enhancing the long-term prosperity,  
sustainability, and health of the community. 

  

Page 8

ITEM #2.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  January 26, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 2 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Robert K. Nelson called the meeting to order at 6:16 PM. 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE 
Texas State Flag Pledge: "Honor The Texas Flag; I Pledge Allegiance To Thee, Texas, One 
State Under God, One And Indivisible.”  

Councilwoman Floyce Brown 

CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

Mayor Robert K. Nelson certified that a quorum was present. 

PRESENT 
Mayor Robert K. Nelson 
Mayor Pro Tem Jason W. Childers 
Councilwoman Floyce Brown 
Councilman Jim Folse 
Councilman Brent P. Marceaux 
Councilwoman Becca Sitz 
 

MISSION STATEMENT 
The City of Bay City is a community that fosters future economic growth, strives to deliver 
superior municipal services, invests in quality of life initiatives and is the gateway to the great 
outdoors. We encourage access to our unique historical and eco-cultural resources while 
maintaining our small-town Texas charm. 

Councilwoman Floyce Brown 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion made by Councilwoman Brown to approve the agenda, Seconded by Councilman 
Marceaux. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, 
Councilman Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
There were not any public comments. 

CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION AND/OR APPROVAL 
1. Minutes of City Council Regular Meeting on January 12, 2021. 
2. Accounts Payable, Direct Payable and Utility Refunds for October, November, 

and December 2020 

Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Childers to approve the Consent Items, Seconded by 
Councilwoman Brown. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman 

Page 9

ITEM #2.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  January 26, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 3 

Brown, Councilman Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

REGULAR ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND/OR APPROVAL 

3. Presentation ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve architectural design of Digital 
Billboard at Bay City Civic Center. 

Heidi Martinez, Tourism Director, presented the billboard design proposed. We do not 
need Texas Department of Transportation approval. Have gotten confirmation that the 
sign will be covered under insurance for lightning/weather/wind once it is built, different 
features that includes earth grounding rod, built to accommodate wind load, projecting 
sign to be 29 feet tall. Ms. Martinez answered various questions from Council 
regarding the sign capabilities and software. 

Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Childers to approve the design of the digital billboard, 
Seconded by Councilwoman Sitz. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem 
Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, Councilman Marceaux, 
Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

4. Presentation ~ Library 1st Quarter Report. 

Samantha Denbow, Library Director, presented the Library statistics from October 
through December. They had 29 programs that were all virtual except one. Number 
are down due to COVID, but computer usage has remained steady. Ms. Denbow 
stated that they are getting ready for summer programs that will be both virtual and in 
person. 

5. Ratification ~ Discuss, review and/or approve ratifying adjusted Utility Fees. 

The ratification of adjusted utility fees was presented by both Shawna Burkhart, City 
Manager, and Scotty Jones, Finance Director, and the need to ratify change in volume 
and fee change from 6.30 to 3.15 

Motion made by Councilwoman Brown to approve the ratification of the adjusted utility 
fees, Seconded by Councilman Folse. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem 
Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, Councilman Marceaux, 
Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

6. Resolution ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve a Resolution allowing the City 
Manager to approve contracts. 

Motion made by Councilwoman Sitz to approve a resolution allowing the City Manager 
to approve contracts, Seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Childers. Voting Yea: Mayor 
Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, 
Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

Page 10

ITEM #2.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  January 26, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 4 

7. Resolution ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve a Resolution approving the 
submission of the "Project Justice" project grant application under the Criminal 
Justice Grant with the Office of the Governor, Criminal Justice Division. 

Robert Lister, Chief of Police, presented the resolution and stated that the grant would 
assist in the salary of a full time investigator. Chief Lister stated that based on the 
number of cases, the investigations division has struggle to keep up. Chief added that 
the grant pays 100% first year and will provide vehicle and full salary, 2nd year 80% - 
city 11,000, 3rd year - 23,000, and 4th year city picks up full salary. Mayor Nelson 
asked Chief Lister if her will hire investigator and Chief replied that is trying to get one 
already. Mayor Pro-Tem Childers asked if it can be from within or are they hiring from 
outside and the Chief replied that it could be from within or a lateral transfer from 
another agency. Chief stated that the funding is through DOJ, criminal justice division 
for State of Texas - JAG grant is Federal funded. Councilwoman Brown added that 
there will have to be adjustments in the budget after first year and after 4th year, full 
58,000 (2025-26). 

Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Childers to approve the resolution, Seconded by 
Councilwoman Brown. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, 
Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. 
Motion carried. 
 

CLOSED / EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Council adjourned in to an Executive Session at 6:51 pm. 

8. Executive session pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.087, (1) to 
discuss or deliberate regarding commercial or financial information that BCCDC 
has received from a business prospect that BCCDC seeks to have locate, stay, 
or expand in Bay City and with which BCCDC is conducting economic 
development negotiations; and/or (2) to deliberate the offer of a financial or 
other incentive to a business prospect described by Subdivision (1). 

9. Executive Session to consult with legal counsel about legal matters pursuant to 
Section 551.071(2) of the Texas Government Code. 

OPEN SESSION 
Discuss, consider and/or take action on item(s) listed in Executive/Closed Session, (if any). 

Council reconvened in at 8:12 pm. Council took no action on the items in executive session. 

ITEMS / COMMENTS & MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 

There were comments from Mayor or Council 

 

Page 11

ITEM #2.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  January 26, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 5 

ADJOURNMENT  

Motion made by Councilman Marceaux to adjourn, Seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Childers. 
Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman 
Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried and meeting adjourned at 
8:16 pm. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED, this ____ day of _____________, 2021. 

 

   

ROBERT K. NELSON, MAYOR 

CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

JEANNA THOMPSON 

CITY SECRETARY 

 

 

Page 12

ITEM #2.



 

Bay City  Page 1 

CITY OF BAY CITY 
MINUTES  FEBRUARY 23, 2021 

COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS | 1901 
5th Street 

City Council Utility Workshop 4:30 PM 

1901 5TH STREET 
BAY CITY TX,77414 

 

  

 

  

  Mayor   

  Robert K. Nelson   

Councilman  Councilman  Councilwoman 

Jim Folse  Brent P. Marceaux  Becca Slitz 

Mayor Pro Tem    Councilwoman 

Jason W. Childers    Floyce Brown 

 

Bay City is committed to developing and enhancing the long-term prosperity,  
sustainability, and health of the community. 

  

Page 13

ITEM #3.



Minutes City Council Utility Workshop  February 23, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 2 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Robert K. Nelson called the meeting to order at 4:38 pm. 

CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

PRESENT 
Mayor Robert K. Nelson 
Mayor Pro Tem Jason W. Childers 
Councilwoman Floyce Brown 
Councilman Jim Folse 
Councilman Brent P. Marceaux 
Councilwoman Becca Sitz 

 
Also present:  
Shawna Burkhart, City Manager 
Barry Calhoun, Public Works Director 
Dan Olsen, Garver 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

None 

REGULAR ITEMS  FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND / OR APPROVAL 

REVIEW AND DISCUSS THE CITY'S UTILITY ORDINANCE 

Barry Calhoun, Public Works Director reviewed the need to adjust rates after the increase in 
rates created complaint. Mr. Calhoun stated that irrigation water use rates was hit hard. Mr. 
Calhoun added that we have revisited and brought down last month after making adjustments. 
The review tonight is to  review the final adjustments. Dan Olsen with Garver addressed 
council. Mr. Olsen stated that they tried to incorporate the feedback and to moderate and 
phase in.  

Mayor Nelson asked if these rates cover the debt service. Mr. Olsen replied yes. 

Mayor Pro Tem Childers asked if there will be incremental increases and Mr. Olsen replied that 
it would for next few years but not like this. Benchmark showed a sewer cap, sewer cap makes 
a difference. The new fees still keeps us in the middle of the road and the changes were to 
satisfy those high volume customers.  

Mayor Pro Tem Childers asked about the meters. Mr. Calhoun stated that the company had 
updated the software and they drug their feet but there were bugs in the software, the City is 
still still manually reading meters. Mr. Calhoun added that commercial business meters have 
failed, facing replacing 18 meters and we should have in by next month. One hundred Badger 
test meters are in the ground, still reading 100%, working real good. Very pleased with those 

Page 14

ITEM #3.



Minutes City Council Utility Workshop  February 23, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 3 

test meters and showed leaks with out customer knowing. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made by Councilwoman Brown to adjourn, Seconded by Councilman Folse.Voting Yea: 
Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, 
Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried and the meeting adjourned at 5:15 
pm. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED, this ____ day of _____________, 2021. 

 

   

ROBERT K. NELSON, MAYOR 

CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

JEANNA THOMPSON 

CITY SECRETARY 

 

Page 15

ITEM #3.



 

Bay City  Page 1 

CITY OF BAY CITY 
MINUTES  FEBRUARY 23, 2021 

COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS | 1901 
5th Street 

City Council Regular Meeting 6:00 PM 

1901 5TH STREET 
BAY CITY TX,77414 

 

  

 

  

  Mayor   

  Robert K. Nelson   

Councilman  Councilman  Councilwoman 

Jim Folse  Brent P. Marceaux  Becca Sitz 

Mayor Pro Tem    Councilwoman 

Jason W. Childers    Floyce Brown 

 

Bay City is committed to developing and enhancing the long-term prosperity,  
sustainability, and health of the community. 

  

Page 16

ITEM #4.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  February 23, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 2 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Robert K. Nelson called the meeting to order at 6:01 pm 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE 
Texas State Flag Pledge: "Honor The Texas Flag; I Pledge Allegiance To Thee, Texas, One 
State Under God, One And Indivisible.”  

Councilman Brent Marceaux 

CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

PRESENT 
Mayor Robert K. Nelson 
Mayor Pro Tem Jason W. Childers 
Councilwoman Floyce Brown 
Councilman Jim Folse 
Councilman Brent P. Marceaux 
Councilwoman Becca Sitz 

MISSION STATEMENT 
The City of Bay City is a community that fosters future economic growth, strives to deliver 
superior municipal services, invests in quality of life initiatives and is the gateway to the great 
outdoors. We encourage access to our unique historical and eco-cultural resources while 
maintaining our small-town Texas charm. 

Councilman Brent Marceaux 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Childers to approve the agenda, Seconded by Councilman 
Marceaux. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, 
Councilman Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
David Torrez, who has been a resident for 67 years, stated that he is concerned with the holes 
in roads and that the City is broke. Mr. Torrez asked what Council will do when the water bills 
come in for all the broken lines from last weeks freeze. He is concerned the bills will be 
outrageous. 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Minutes of City Council Regular meeting on February 9, 2021. 

Motion made by Councilman Marceaux to approve the minutes from the February 9, 
2021 Regular Meeting, Seconded by Councilwoman Sitz. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, 

Page 17

ITEM #4.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  February 23, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 3 

Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, Councilman 
Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

REGULAR ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION, CONSIDERATION AND/OR APPROVAL 

2. Ordinance ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve revisions to the City of Bay City, 
Texas Code of Ordinances, Chapter 114 "Utilities", providing rules and 
regulations in compliance with State law for efficient and safe operations of the 
City's utility water and wastewater systems. 
Barry Calhoun, Public Works Director, presented the ordinance to Council, revision 
directly tied to the rate structure. We adjusted the language in the ordinance, 
multifamily moved out of commercial and now its own class. 

Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Childers to approve the ordinance amending Chapter 
114 "Utilities", Seconded by Councilwoman Brown. Mayor Nelson polled Council, 
Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, 
Councilman Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

3. Ordinance ~ Discuss, consider and/or approve an Ordinance of the City of Bay 
City, Texas, revising the Fee Schedule labeled "Appendix B" in the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Bay City, Texas; adopting new fees for Chapter 114 
Utililties; providing for repeal; providing for ratification; providing a penalty; 
providing for severability; and providing an effective date. Barry Calhoun, Public 
Works 

Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Childers to approve the Ordinance amending the Fee 
Schedule, Seconded by Councilwoman Brown. Mayor Nelson polled Council:Voting 
Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman 
Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 

4. Discuss, consider, and/or award the Construction Bid for the 2019  Texas 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Fund, Contract 7219029 For Water 
Improvements Project in northwest quadrant of the City, to Android 
Construction Services, LLC in the amount of $379,305.00 and authorize the 
Mayor and/or City Manager to execute a contract; approve to form by the City 
Attorney between the City of Bay City and Android Construction Services, LLC.  

Barry Calhoun, Public Works Director, stated that we will need to do budget amend of 
$22,000, suggest award all 4 alternates and will bring budget amendment for approval. 
Work will be completed in 60 days. 

Motion made by Councilman Folse to award the four alternate contracts, Seconded by 
Councilwoman Sitz.Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, 
Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. 
Motion carried. 
 

Page 18

ITEM #4.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  February 23, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 4 

5. Agreement ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve an agreement for Public 
Improvement District (PID) administrative services. 

Shawna Burkhart, City Manager, stated that we have recently been talking with 
individual entities that may want to do improvement. Ms. Burkhart reviewed the 
benefits of a PID for developer. Mayor Pro Tem Childers asked about the turn time 
and Ms. Burkhart responded as soon as possible that they are trying to 45 day to 
meet. Anne Marie Odefey, City Attorney, added that it depends on the developer who 
provides the information to P3.  

Motion made by Councilman Marceaux to approve the agreement P3 for PID 
administrative services, Seconded by Councilwoman Sitz. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, 
Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, Councilman 
Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

6. Report ~ Discuss, consider, and/or approve the City of Bay City waiving the Bay 
City Housing Authority payment in lieu of taxes (Pilot) fees for Fiscal years 
ending March 31, 2012 through March 31, 2020, not to exceed $82,793. 

Council adjourned into and excutive session to consult with the City Attorney at 6:32, 
Council reconvened at 7:15 pm. Mayor Pro Tem Childers commented that he takes 
offense when some one owes us money and has a pending law suit against us. Ask 
them to withdraw the law suit then ask us to forgive the amount owed. They should 
have dropped this all ready and would like the City legal fees recovered, he is not in 
favor of waiving the fees since they have not applied for grants. Because of the 
situation we should be seeing the financial reports regularly. They should seek HUD 
approval for what ever we decide upon. He does not want to set a precedence.  

Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Childers for the Mayor and City Manager to proceed 
with negotiations, Seconded by Councilman Marceaux. Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, 
Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman Folse, Councilman 
Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried. 
 

7. Report ~ Discuss and provide staff direction regarding notification of affordable 
rental housing application proposed. 

Shawna Burkhart, City Manager, state that a developer of an apartment complex 
asked to be endorsed by the City. There were concerns from CDC with the developer. 
There was not time for them to finished their application by March 1st. Ms. Burkhart 
added that her experience is that it takes a year and a half, and this time frame is 
questionable. Asked council as to where you desire affordable housing or do you 
desire another? Is the City going to be supportive with TDHCA applications? 
Councilwoman Brown stated that the developer should work with CDC, and Mayor Pro 
Tem Childers thinks its a good start and that Council needs all the details not a bait 
and switch. Direction is to go to CDC and provide sufficient time to gather information. 

Page 19

ITEM #4.



Minutes City Council Regular Meeting  February 23, 2021 

 

Bay City  Page 5 

CLOSED / EXECUTIVE SESSION 

8. Executive session pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.087, (1) to 
discuss commercial or financial information that BCCDC has received from a 
business prospect that BCCDC seeks to have locate, stay, or expand in Bay City 
and with which BCCDC is conducting economic development negotiations; 
and/or (2) to deliberate the offer of a financial or other incentive to a business 
prospect described by Subdivision (1). 

Council did not adjourn into an Executive Session due to a delay in information. 

ITEMS / COMMENTS & MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Councilman Folse publicly wished his wife happy birthday. Councilwoman Sitz stated that we 
are fortunate to have many contractors in town, but a lot of loud vehicles and would like to 
bring it to the attention of PD.  

ADJOURNMENT  

Motion made by Councilwoman Brown to adjourn, Seconded by Councilwoman Sitz. 
Voting Yea: Mayor Nelson, Mayor Pro Tem Childers, Councilwoman Brown, Councilman 
Folse, Councilman Marceaux, Councilwoman Sitz. Motion carried and meeting adjourned at 
7:16 pm. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED, this ____ day of _____________, 2021. 

 

   

ROBERT K. NELSON, MAYOR 

CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

JEANNA THOMPSON 

CITY SECRETARY 

 

Page 20

ITEM #4.



Page 21

ITEM #5.



Page 22

ITEM #5.



Page 23

ITEM #5.



Page 24

ITEM #5.



Page 25

ITEM #5.



Page 26

ITEM #5.



Page 27

ITEM #5.



Page 28

ITEM #5.



Page 29

ITEM #5.



Page 30

ITEM #5.



 1 

Bay City Police Department 
2020 Annual Report 

 
 

 
*Statistical Information:      2018   2019   2020 

 
 
Calls For Service 
 
911 Calls        9,896   9,282   9,164     
         
Total Calls for Service      28,376  34,464  31,645 
 
 
Traffic 
 
Contact Stops       3,894   8,264   6,859 
Accidents         464   535   434 
Injuries        113   132   109 
Fatalities        0   1   1 
Written Citations       1,561   2,376   1539 
Written Warnings       2,809   6,570   11,502 
 

Arrest 
 
Adult         1,176   1,277   906 
Juveniles        94   67   53 
Total         1,270   1,344   959 
 
 
Warrants 
 
Total Received       864   1073   591 
Total Served        1,159   843   535 
 
 
 

Page 31

ITEM #6.



 2 

*Statistical Information-Continued:    2018      2019   2020  
 
 
 
Uniform Crime Index 
 
Criminal Homicide       3   0   7      
Sexual Assault       11   16   19 
Robbery        18   6   11 
Aggravated Assaults      53   49   52 
Simple Assaults ( non-UCR Reportable)    506   591   549 
Burglary        122   139   99 
Larceny        541   522   490 
Motor Vehicle Theft       17   25   19 
 
 
Family Violence 
 
Officer Responses       337   357   302 
Arrest         144   125   113 
 
 
 
Special Response Team (SRT) 
 
Call-outs        6   4   1 
 
Animal Control 
 
Live Animals Picked Up      644   657   372     
Dead Animals Picked Up      113   121   71 
Animal Welfare Calls      178   202   96 
Total Calls for Service      1,970   2,025   986 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32

ITEM #6.



 3 

*Statistical Information-Continued:    2018   2019   2020 
 
 
 
Training 
 
Total out of town hours      3,290   2,133   899 
Total BCPD contact hours      4,950   3,058   606 
Total Department Training Hours     8,240   5,191   1505 
 
 
TCLEOSE Certifications 
 
 Peace officer       2   5   5 
 Basic Peace Officer      10   8   10 
 Intermediate       2   5   5 
 Advanced       5   5   4 
 Master       17   17   16 
 Instructor       23   23   14 
 F.T.O.        36   58   36 

S.F.S.T.       35   35   17 
Mental Health      3   6   2 
Firearms Inst.      4   4   2 
Crime Prevention Spl.     2   2   2 
Intoxilyzer Opr.      4   4   4 
Inter. Crash Inv.      6   6   6 
Advance crash Inv.      1   1   1 
Inv. Hypnotist      0   0   0 

 
 
Jailer  
 
  
 Basic Certification      3   5   5 
 Master Certification      0   0   0 
 
 
 

Page 33

ITEM #6.



 4 

*Statistical Information-Continued:    2018   2019   2020 
 
 
Communications  
 
 Temp. Telecommunications    3   2   3    
 Basic Telecommunications     4   1   2 
 Intermediate Telecommunications   6   2   2 
 Advance Telecommunications    5   6   6 
 Master Telecommunications    3   3   3 
 
 
 
Investigations 
 
Cases Assigned for Investigation     2,352   2,716   2533 
CPS Referrals       306   326   300 
APS Referrals       11   18   23 
 
Crime Prevention 
 
Crime Prevention hours         263   64 
Community Presentations      79   67   21 
Home and Business Safety Awareness     0   0   0 
 
 
Crime Victim’s Liaison Division 
 

Victim’s Served       804   953   995 
Crime Victim’s Compensation Applications Served   45   54   42  
Crime Victim’s Compensation payouts to Victims   $101,254  $166,067  $104,663 
  
 
Mental Health 
 
Total Calls        269   227   159 
Transports        59   66   81 

Page 34

ITEM #6.



 5 

 
*Statistical Information-Continued:    2018   2019   2020 
 
 
Juveniles 
 

Transports        22   24   5    
 

Narcotic Related Statistics 
 

 
Total Cases        138   146   144 
Total Arrest        136   98   62 
Vehicles Seized       5   3   5 
Money Seized       $16,200  $5,663  2662 
Firearms Seized             11 
 
Special Operations 
 
Total Special Police Operations Initiated    8   11   3   
 
Dealing with the Homeless 
 
Calls for Service          126   95 
 
Code Enforcement 
 
Calls for Service       633   1,583   1484 
City Demolitions Completed     5   7   27 
 
Arson Investigations 
 
Calls for Service          11   20 
Arrest            4   4     
         

Page 35

ITEM #6.



Page 36

ITEM #6.



Page 37

ITEM #6.



Page 38

ITEM #6.



Page 39

ITEM #6.



Page 40

ITEM #6.



Page 41

ITEM #6.



Page 42

ITEM #6.



Page 43

ITEM #6.



Page 44

ITEM #6.



Page 45

ITEM #6.



Page 46

ITEM #6.



Page 47

ITEM #6.



DRAFT – 2/26/21 

 
#8000046.7 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY OF BAY 

CITY, TEXAS, TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF 

OBLIGATION, SERIES 2021A (CWSRF); AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND 

DELIVERY OF A PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT AND AN 

ESCROW AGREEMENT RELATING TO SUCH CERTIFICATES; 

PRESCRIBING THE FORM OF SAID CERTIFICATES; LEVYING A TAX 

AND PLEDGING SURPLUS REVENUES OF THE WATER AND SEWER 

SYSTEM IN PAYMENT THEREOF; AND ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS 

RELATING THERETO 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

COUNTY OF MATAGORDA § 

CITY OF BAY CITY § 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bay City, Texas (the “City”), authorized the 

publication of a notice of intention to issue certificates of obligation to the effect that the City 

Council would meet on March 9, 2021 to adopt an ordinance and take such other action as may be 

deemed necessary to authorize the issuance of certificates of obligation payable from City ad 

valorem taxes and from a pledge of and lien on the surplus revenues of the City’s water and sewer 

system, for the purpose of evidencing the indebtedness of the City for all or any part of the costs 

associated with the improvements to the City’s sanitary sewer system, including the planning, 

acquisition, design and construction of the City’s wastewater treatment plant and lift stations, the 

City’s sewer lines, and the costs of professional services related thereto; and 

WHEREAS, such notice was published at the times and in the manner required by the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, particularly Subchapter C, Chapter 271, Texas Local 

Government Code, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, no petition or other request has been filed with or presented to any official of 

the City requesting that any of the proceedings authorizing such Certificates (as defined herein) be 

submitted to a referendum or other election; and 

WHEREAS, the City is authorized to make the pledge of Surplus Revenues (as defined 

herein) pursuant to Chapter 1502, Texas Government Code; and 

WHEREAS, the City is now authorized and empowered to proceed with the issuance and 

sale of the Certificates, and has found and determined that it is necessary and in the best interests 

of the City and its citizens that it issue the Certificates in accordance with the terms and provisions 

of this Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the meeting at which this Ordinance is being considered is open to the public 

as required by law, and the public notice of the time, place and purpose of said meeting was given 

as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code; Now, Therefore 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS: 

Page 48

ITEM #7.



-2- 
#8000046.7 

1. Recitals.  It is hereby found and determined that the matters and facts set out in the 

preamble to this Ordinance are true and correct and incorporated herein for all purposes. 

2. Definitions.  Unless otherwise expressly provided or unless the context clearly 

requires otherwise in this Ordinance, the following terms shall have the same meanings specified 

below: 

“Act” means Chapter 271, Texas Local Government Code, as amended. 

“Attorney General” means the Attorney General of the State of Texas. 

“Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations” means the Blanket Issuer Letter of 

Representations between the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and DTC. 

“Bond Counsel” means Bracewell LLP. 

“Business Day” means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or a day on which the 

Paying Agent/Registrar is authorized by law or executive order to close, or a legal holiday. 

“Certificate” or “Certificates” means the City of Bay City, Texas, Tax and Surplus Revenue 

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021A (CWSRF) authorized in this Ordinance, unless the context 

clearly indicates otherwise. 

“City” means the City of Bay City, Texas. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and, with respect to a 

specific section thereof, such reference shall be deemed to include (a) the Regulations promulgated 

under such section, (b) any successor provision of similar import hereafter enacted, (c) any 

corresponding provision of any subsequent Internal Revenue Code and (d) the regulations 

promulgated under the provisions described in (b) and (c).  

 “Comptroller” means the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas. 

 “DTC” means The Depository Trust Company of New York, New York, or any successor 

securities depository. 

“DTC Participant” means brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 

corporations and certain other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created to hold securities 

to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC Participants. 

“Escrow Agent” means Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Amegy Bank 

Division, Houston, Texas, and its successors and assigns, or such other escrow agent as may be 

approved by the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and acceptable to the TWDB. 

“Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement by and between the City and the Escrow 

Agent pertaining to the deposit of the proceeds of the Certificates. 

“Financial Obligation” means a (i) debt obligation, (ii) derivative instrument entered into 

Page 49

ITEM #7.



-3- 
#8000046.7 

in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 

obligation, or (iii) guarantee of a debt obligation or any such derivative instrument; provided that 

“financial obligation” shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement 

(as defined in the Rule) has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.  

“Fiscal Year” means such fiscal year as shall from time to time be set by the City Council. 

“Initial Certificate” means the Initial Certificate authorized by Section 6(d) of this 

Ordinance. 

“Interest and Sinking Fund” means the interest and sinking fund for payment of the 

Certificates established by the City in Section 18 of this Ordinance. 

“Interest Payment Date” when used in connection with any Certificate, means September 

1, 2021, and each March 1 and September 1 thereafter until maturity. 

“Issuance Date,” with respect to the Certificates initially delivered to the TWDB, shall 

mean the date on which each such Certificate is authenticated by the Paying Agent/Registrar and 

delivered to and paid for by the TWDB.  Certificates delivered on transfer of or in exchange for 

other Certificates shall bear the same Issuance Date as the Certificate or Certificates in lieu of or 

in exchange for which the new Certificate is delivered. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

“Ordinance” as used herein and in the Certificates means this ordinance authorizing the 

Certificates. 

“Owner” means any person who shall be the registered owner of any outstanding 

Certificate. 

“Paying Agent/Registrar” means Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Amegy 

Bank Division, Houston, Texas, and its successors in that capacity.  

“Project” means the improvements to the City’s sanitary sewer system, including the 

planning, acquisition, design and construction of the City’s wastewater treatment plant and lift 

stations, the City’s sewer lines, and the costs of professional services related thereto. 

“Project Fund” shall mean the project fund established by the City pursuant to Section 27 

of this Ordinance. 

“Record Date” means, for any Interest Payment Date, the fifteenth day of the month next 

preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Register” means the books of registration kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar in which 

are maintained the names and addresses of and the principal amounts registered to each Owner. 

“Regulations” means the applicable, proposed, temporary or final Treasury Regulations 

promulgated under the Code, or, to the extent applicable to the Code, under the Internal Revenue 

Page 50

ITEM #7.



-4- 
#8000046.7 

Code of 1954, as such regulations may be amended or supplemented from time to time. 

“Rule” means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time. 

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

“Surplus Revenues” means the revenues available after the payment of operation and 

maintenance expenses of the System and the debt service payable from gross revenues or net 

revenues of the System, if any, as well as any other payments, costs or expenses designated in an 

ordinance authorizing the issuance of System revenue obligations. 

“System” means the City’s water and sewer system. 

“TWDB” means the Texas Water Development Board. 

3. Authorization.  The Certificates shall be issued pursuant to the Act in fully 

registered form, without coupons, in the total authorized principal amount of $4,742,000 for the 

purpose of evidencing the indebtedness of the City for all or any part of the costs associated with 

the Project. 

4. Designation and Date.  The Certificates shall be designated as the “CITY OF BAY 

CITY, TEXAS, TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 

2021A (CWSRF),” and shall be dated April 1, 2021.  The Certificates shall bear interest at the 

rates set out in Section 5 of this Ordinance, from the later of the Issuance Date or the most recent 

Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, calculated on the basis 

of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 

5. Initial Certificates; Numbers and Denominations.  The Certificates shall be issued 

in the principal amounts and bearing interest at the rates set forth in the following schedule, and 

may be transferred and exchanged as set out in this Ordinance.  The Certificates shall mature on 

September 1 in each of the years and in the amounts set out in such schedule. The Initial Certificate 

shall be numbered I-1 and all other Certificates shall be numbered in sequence beginning with R-1.  

Certificates delivered on transfer of or in exchange for other Certificates shall be numbered in 

order of their authentication by the Paying Agent/Registrar, shall be in the denomination of $1,000 

or integral multiples thereof, and shall mature on the same date and bear interest at the same rate 

as the Certificate or Certificates in lieu of which they are delivered. 

  

Page 51

ITEM #7.



-5- 
#8000046.7 

Year 

Principal 

Amount 

Interest 

Rate 
 

Year 

Principal 

Amount 

Interest 

Rate 

2022 $130,000 %  2037 $165,000 % 

2023 132,000   2038 167,000  

2024 134,000   2039 170,000  

2025 136,000   2040 173,000  

2026 138,000   2041 175,000  

2027 141,000   2042 178,000  

2028 143,000   2043 181,000  

2029 145,000   2044 184,000  

2030 147,000   2045 187,000  

2031 150,000   2046 190,000  

2032 152,000   2047 193,000  

2033 155,000   2048 196,000  

2034 157,000   2049 199,000  

2035 160,000   2050 202,000  

2036 162,000      

6. Execution and Registration of Certificates.  (a) The Certificates shall be signed on 

behalf of the City by the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and countersigned by the City Secretary, by 

their manual, lithographed, or facsimile signatures, and the official seal of the City shall be 

impressed or placed in facsimile thereon.  Such facsimile signatures on the Certificates shall have 

the same effect as if each of the Certificates had been signed manually and in person by each of 

said officers, and such facsimile seal on the Certificates shall have the same effect as if the official 

seal of the City had been manually impressed upon each of the Certificates. 

(b) If any officer of the City whose manual or facsimile signature shall appear on the 

Certificates shall cease to be such officer before the authentication of such Certificates or before 

the delivery of such Certificates, such manual or facsimile signature shall nevertheless be valid 

and sufficient for all purposes as if such officer had remained in such office. 

(c) Except as provided below, no Certificate shall be valid or obligatory for any 

purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit of this Ordinance unless and until there appears 

thereon the Paying Agent/Registrar’s Authentication Certificate substantially in the form provided 

herein, duly authenticated by manual execution by an officer or duly authorized signatory of the 

Paying Agent/Registrar.  In lieu of the executed Registrar’s Authentication Certificate described 

above, the Initial Certificate delivered at the Issuance Date shall have attached hereto the 

Comptroller’s Registration Certificate substantially in the form provided herein, manually 

executed by the Comptroller, or by his duly authorized agent, which certificate shall be evidence 

that the Initial Certificate has been duly approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas 

and that it is a valid and binding obligation of the City, and has been registered by the Comptroller. 

(d) On the Issuance Date, the Initial Certificate, being a single certificate representing 

the entire principal amount of the Certificates, payable in stated installments to the TWDB or its 

designee, executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and City 

Secretary, approved by the Attorney General, and registered and manually signed by the 

Page 52

ITEM #7.



-6- 
#8000046.7 

Comptroller, shall be delivered to the TWDB or its designee.  Upon payment for the Initial 

Certificate, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel the Initial Certificate and deliver definitive 

Certificates to DTC. 

7. Payment of Principal and Interest.  The Paying Agent/Registrar is hereby appointed 

as the initial paying agent for the Certificates.  The principal of the Certificates shall be payable, 

without exchange or collection charges, in any coin or currency of the United States of America 

which, on the date of payment, is legal tender for the payment of debts due the United States of 

America, upon their presentation and surrender as they become due and payable at the principal 

payment office of the Paying Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas.  The interest on each Certificate 

shall be payable by check mailed by the Paying Agent/Registrar on or before each Interest Payment 

Date to the Owner of record as of the Record Date, to the address of such Owner as shown on the 

Register; provided, however, that for so long as the TWDB is the Owner of the Certificates, all 

payments of principal and interest will be made in wire transfer form at no cost to the TWDB.   

If the date for payment of the principal of any Certificate is not a Business Day, then the 

date for such payment shall be the next succeeding Business Day, with the same force and effect 

as if made on the original date payment was due. 

8. Successor Paying Agent/Registrars.  The City covenants that at all times while any 

Certificates are outstanding it will provide a commercial bank or trust company, organized under 

the laws of the United States or any which is duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and 

perform the duties and services of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates.  The City reserves 

the right to change the Paying Agent/Registrar on not less than 45 days written notice to the Paying 

Agent/Registrar, so long as any such notice is effective not less than 45 days prior to the next 

succeeding principal or interest payment date on the Certificates.  Promptly upon the appointment 

of any successor Paying Agent/Registrar, the previous Paying Agent/Registrar shall deliver the 

Register or copies thereof to the new Paying Agent/Registrar, and the new Paying Agent/Registrar 

shall notify each Owner, by United States mail, first class postage prepaid, of such change and of 

the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.  Each Paying Agent/Registrar hereunder, by acting 

in that capacity, shall be deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Section. 

9. Special Record Date.  If interest on any Certificate is not paid on any Interest 

Payment Date and continues unpaid for 30 days thereafter, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall 

establish a new record date for the payment of such interest, to be known as a Special Record Date.  

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall establish a Special Record Date when funds to make such 

interest payment are received from or on behalf of the City.  Such Special Record Date shall be 15 

days prior to the date fixed for payment of such past due interest, and notice of the date of payment 

and the Special Record Date shall be sent by United States mail, first class postage prepaid, not 

later than five (5) days prior to the Special Record Date, to each affected Owner of record as of 

the close of business on the day prior to the mailing of such notice. 

10. Ownership; Unclaimed Principal.  The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and any 

other person may treat the person in whose name any Certificate is registered as the absolute Owner 

of such Certificate for the purpose of making payment of principal on such Certificate, and for all 

other purposes, whether or not such Certificate is overdue, and neither the City nor the Paying 

Agent/Registrar shall be bound by any notice or knowledge to the contrary.  All payments made 

Page 53

ITEM #7.



-7- 
#8000046.7 

to the person deemed to be the Owner of any Certificate in accordance with this Section shall be 

valid and effectual and shall discharge the liability of the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar 

upon such Certificate to the extent of the sums paid. 

Amounts held by the Paying Agent/Registrar which represent principal of the Certificates 

remaining unclaimed by the Owner after the expiration of three years from the date such amounts 

have become due and payable shall be reported and disposed of by the Paying Agent/Registrar in 

accordance with the applicable provisions of Texas law including, to the extent applicable, Title 6 

of the Texas Property Code, as amended. 

11. Registration, Transfer, and Exchange.  So long as any Certificates remain 

outstanding, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Register at its principal payment office in 

Houston, Texas and, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Paying 

Agent/Registrar shall provide for the registration and transfer of Certificates in accordance with 

the terms of this Ordinance.  The Issuance Date of each Certificate originally delivered to and paid 

for by TWDB shall be recorded in the Register. 

Each Certificate shall be transferable only upon the presentation and surrender thereof at 

the principal payment office of the Paying Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas, duly endorsed for 

transfer, or accompanied by an assignment duly executed by the registered Owner or his authorized 

representative in form satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar.  Upon due presentation of any 

Certificate for transfer, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange 

therefor, within three (3) Business Days after such presentation, a new Certificate or Certificates, 

registered in the name of the transferee or transferees, in authorized denominations and of the same 

maturity, aggregate principal amount, and Issuance Date, bearing interest at the same rate as the 

Certificate or Certificates so presented. 

All Certificates shall be exchangeable upon presentation and surrender thereof at the 

principal payment office of the Paying Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas, for a Certificate or 

Certificates of the same maturity, Issuance Date, and interest rate and in any authorized 

denomination, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid principal amount of the 

Certificate or Certificates presented for exchange.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall be and is 

hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver exchange Certificates in accordance with the 

provisions of this Section.  Each Certificate delivered in accordance with this Section shall be 

entitled to the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Certificate or 

Certificates in lieu of which such Certificate is delivered. 

The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Owner of any Certificate to pay a 

sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in connection 

with the transfer or exchange of such Certificate.  Any fee or charge of the Paying Agent/Registrar 

for such transfer or exchange shall be paid by the City. 

12. Mutilated, Lost, or Stolen Certificates.  Upon the presentation and surrender to the 

Paying Agent/Registrar of a mutilated Certificate, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate 

and deliver in exchange therefor a replacement Certificate of like maturity, Issuance Date, interest 

rate and principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding.  If any 

Certificate is lost, apparently destroyed, or wrongfully taken, the City, pursuant to the applicable 

Page 54

ITEM #7.



-8- 
#8000046.7 

laws of the State of Texas and in the absence of notice or knowledge that such Certificate has been 

acquired by a bona fide purchaser, shall authorize and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall 

authenticate and deliver a replacement Certificate of like maturity, Issuance Date, interest rate and 

principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. 

The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Owner of a mutilated Certificate 

to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in 

connection therewith and any other expenses connected therewith, including the fees and expenses 

of the Paying Agent/Registrar. 

The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Owner of a lost, apparently 

destroyed or wrongfully taken Certificate, before any replacement Certificate is issued, to: 

(1) furnish to the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory 

evidence of the ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or theft 

of such Certificate; 

(2) furnish such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying 

Agent/Registrar and the City to save them harmless; 

(3) pay all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but 

not limited to, printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar and any 

tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed; and 

(4) meet any other reasonable requirements of the City and the Paying 

Agent/Registrar. 

If, after the delivery of such replacement Certificate, a bona fide purchaser of the original 

Certificate in lieu of which such replacement Certificate was issued presents for payment such 

original Certificate, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to recover such 

replacement Certificate from the person to whom it was delivered or any person taking therefrom, 

except a bona fide purchaser, and shall be entitled to recover upon the security or indemnity 

provided therefor to the extent of any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred by the City or the 

Paying Agent/Registrar in connection therewith. 

If any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken Certificate has 

become or is about to become due and payable, the City in its discretion may, instead of issuing a 

replacement Certificate, authorize the Paying Agent/Registrar to pay such Certificate. 

Each replacement Certificate delivered in accordance with this Section shall be entitled to 

the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Certificate or Certificates in 

lieu of which such replacement Certificate is delivered. 

13. Cancellation of Certificates.  All Certificates paid in accordance with this 

Ordinance, and all Certificates in lieu of which exchange Certificates or replacement Certificates 

are authenticated and delivered in accordance herewith, shall be canceled and destroyed upon the 

Page 55

ITEM #7.



-9- 
#8000046.7 

making of proper records regarding such payment.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall furnish the 

City with appropriate certificates of destruction of such Certificates. 

14. Book-Entry System.  The Initial Certificates shall be delivered against payment to 

the TWDB.  The TWDB shall be required to promptly surrender the Initial Certificates to the 

Paying Agent/Registrar for exchange.  Certificates issued in exchange shall be registered in the 

name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, as registered owner of the Certificates, and held in the 

custody of DTC.  Unless otherwise requested by DTC, a single certificate will be issued and 

delivered to DTC for each maturity of the Certificates.  Beneficial owners of Certificates will not 

receive physical delivery of Certificates except as provided hereinafter.  For so long as DTC shall 

continue to serve as securities depository for the certificates as provided herein, all transfers of 

beneficial ownership interest will be made by book-entry only, and no investor or other party 

purchasing, selling or otherwise transferring beneficial ownership of Certificates is to receive, hold 

or deliver any Certificate. 

With respect to Certificates registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the 

City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC 

participant or any person on whose behalf a DTC participant holds an interest in the Certificates.  

Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar 

shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, 

Cede & Co., or any DTC participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Certificates, 

(ii) the delivery to any DTC participant or any other person, other than a registered owner of the 

Certificates, as shown on the Register, of any notice with respect to the Certificates, including any 

notice of redemption, and (iii) the payment of any DTC participant or any other person, other than 

a registered owner of the Certificates, as shown on the Register, of any amount with respect to 

principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the Certificates. 

Replacement Certificates may be issued directly to beneficial owners of Certificates other 

than DTC, or its nominee, but only in the event that (i) DTC determines not to continue to act as 

securities depository for the Certificates (which determination shall become effective no less than 

90 days after written notice to such effect to the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar); or (ii) the 

City has advised DTC of its determination (which determination is conclusive as to DTC and the 

beneficial owners of the Certificates) that the interests of the beneficial owners of the Certificates 

might be adversely affected if such book-entry only system of transfer is continued.  Upon 

occurrence of any of the foregoing events, the City shall use its best efforts to attempt to locate 

another qualified securities depository.  If the City fails to locate another qualified securities 

depository to replace DTC, the City shall cause to be authenticated and delivered replacement 

Certificates, in certificate form, to the beneficial owners of the Certificates.  In the event that the 

City makes the determination noted in (ii) above (provided that the City undertakes no obligation 

to make any investigation to determine the occurrence of any events that would permit the City to 

make any such determination), and has made provisions to notify the beneficial owners of 

Certificates of such determination by mailing an appropriate notice to DTC, it shall cause to be 

issued replacement Certificates in certificate form to beneficial owners of the Certificates as shown 

on the records of DTC provided to the City. 

Whenever, during the term of the Certificates, the beneficial ownership thereof is 

determined by a book entry at DTC, the requirements in this Ordinance of holding, delivering or 

Page 56

ITEM #7.



-10- 
#8000046.7 

transferring Certificates shall be deemed modified to require the appropriate person or entity to 

meet the requirements of DTC as to registering or transferring the book entry to produce the same 

effect. 

If at any time, DTC ceases to hold the Certificates as securities depository, all references 

herein to DTC shall be of no further force or effect. 

Before the City can discontinue the book-entry-only system of registration through DTC, 

notice must be given to the TWDB and prior written consent of the TWDB must be received by 

the City. 

15. Optional Redemption; Defeasance.  (a)   The Certificates are subject to optional 

redemption as set forth in the Form of Certificate in this Ordinance. 

Principal amounts may be redeemed only in integral multiples of $1,000.  If a Certificate 

subject to redemption is in a denomination larger than $1,000, a portion of such Certificate may 

be redeemed, but only in integral multiples of $1,000.  Upon surrender of any Certificate for 

redemption in part, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor 

a Certificate or Certificates of like maturity, Issuance Date, and interest rate in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Certificate so surrendered. 

Notice of any redemption identifying the Certificates to be redeemed in whole or in part 

shall be given by the Paying Agent/Registrar at least 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption 

by sending written notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the Owner of each Certificate to 

be redeemed in whole or in part at the address shown on the Register.  Such notices shall state the 

redemption date, the redemption price, the place at which Certificates are to be surrendered for 

payment and, if less than all Certificates outstanding of a particular maturity are to be redeemed, 

the numbers of the Certificates or portions thereof of such maturity to be redeemed.  Any notice 

given as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether 

or not the Owner receives such notice.  By the date fixed for redemption, due provision shall be 

made with the Paying Agent/Registrar for payment of the redemption price of the Certificates or 

portions thereof to be redeemed.  When Certificates have been called for redemption in whole or 

in part and due provision has been made to redeem the same as herein provided, the Certificates 

or portions thereof so redeemed shall no longer be regarded as outstanding except for the purpose 

of receiving payment solely from the funds so provided for redemption, and the rights of the 

Owners to collect interest which would otherwise accrue after the redemption date on any 

Certificate or portion thereof called for redemption shall terminate on the date fixed for 

redemption. 

The City reserves the right, in the case of a redemption, to give notice of its election or 

direction to redeem Certificates conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events.  Such 

notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or 

authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with 

the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the 

redemption date, or (ii) that the City retains the right to rescind such notice at any time on or prior 

to the scheduled redemption date if the City delivers a certificate of the City to the Paying 

Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice and such 

Page 57

ITEM #7.



-11- 
#8000046.7 

notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so 

deposited or if the notice is rescinded.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of 

any such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected Owners.  Any Certificate 

subject to conditional redemption and such redemption has been rescinded shall remain 

outstanding.    

(b) The Certificates may be discharged, defeased, redeemed or refunded in any manner 

now or hereafter permitted by law. 

16. Forms.  The form of the Certificates, including the form of the Paying 

Agent/Registrar’s Authentication Certificate, the form of Assignment, and the form of Registration 

Certificate of the Comptroller shall be, respectively, substantially as follows, with such additions, 

deletions and variations as may be necessary or desirable and not prohibited by this Ordinance: 

(a) Form of Certificate. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF MATAGORDA 

 

REGISTERED 

NUMBER 

_____ 

REGISTERED 

DENOMINATION 

$________ 

 

CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION 

SERIES 2021A (CWSRF) 

MATURITY 

DATE: 

DATED  

DATE: 

ISSUANCE 

DATE: CUSIP NO.: 

September 1, 20__ April 1, 2021 April 13, 2021 ______ ___ 

 

REGISTERED OWNER: 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: DOLLARS 

THE CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS (the “City”) promises to pay to the registered owner 

identified above, or registered assigns, on the maturity date specified above, upon presentation and 

surrender of this Certificate at Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Amegy Bank Division 

(the “Paying Agent/Registrar”), at its principal payment office in Houston, Texas, the principal 

amount identified above, payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which 

on the date of payment of such principal is legal tender for the payment of debts due the United 

States of America, and to pay interest thereon at the rate shown above, calculated on the basis of 

a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, from the later of the Issuance Date identified above, or 

the most recent interest payment date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for.  Interest 

on this Certificate is payable by check on March 1 and September 1, beginning on September 1, 

Page 58

ITEM #7.



-12- 
#8000046.7 

2021, mailed to the registered owner as shown on the books of registration kept by the Paying 

Agent/Registrar as of the fifteenth day of the month next preceding each interest payment date; 

provided, however, that for so long as the Texas Water Development Board (“TWDB”) is the 

Owner of the Certificates, all payments of principal and interest will be made in wire transfer form 

at no cost to the TWDB. 

THIS CERTIFICATE is dated April 1, 2021 and is one of a series of fully registered 

certificates specified in the title hereof issued in the aggregate principal amount of $4,742,000 

(herein referred to as the “Certificates”), for the purpose of evidencing the indebtedness of the City 

for all or any part of the costs associated with the improvements to the City’s sanitary sewer 

system, including the planning, acquisition, design and construction of the City’s wastewater 

treatment plant and lift stations, the City’s sewer lines, and the costs of professional services related 

thereto, issued in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, particularly 

Subchapter C, Chapter 271, Texas Local Government Code, as amended, pursuant to an ordinance 

duly adopted by the City Council of the City (the “Ordinance”), which Ordinance is of record in 

the official minutes of the City Council. 

THE CITY RESERVES THE RIGHT to redeem Certificates maturing on and after 

September 1, 2032, prior to their scheduled maturities, in whole or from time to time in part, in 

inverse order of maturity, in integral multiples of $1,000, on September 1, 2031, or any date 

thereafter at par.  Reference is made to the Ordinance for complete details concerning the manner 

of redeeming the Certificates. 

NOTICE OF ANY REDEMPTION shall be given at least 30 days prior to the date fixed 

for redemption by first class mail, addressed to the registered owner of each Certificate to be 

redeemed in whole or in part at the address shown on the books of registration kept by the Paying 

Agent/Registrar.  When Certificates or portions thereof have been called for redemption, and due 

provision has been made to redeem the same, the principal amounts so redeemed shall be payable 

solely from the funds provided for redemption, and interest which would otherwise accrue on the 

amounts called for redemption shall terminate on the date fixed for redemption, if any. 

THE CITY RESERVES THE RIGHT, in the case of a redemption, to give notice of its 

election or direction to redeem Certificates conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events.  

Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or 

authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with 

the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the 

redemption date, or (ii) that the City retains the right to rescind such notice at any time on or prior 

to the scheduled redemption date if the City delivers a certificate of the City to the Paying 

Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice and such 

notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so 

deposited or if the notice is rescinded.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of 

any such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected Owners.  Any Certificates 

subject to conditional redemption and such redemption has been rescinded shall remain 

outstanding. 

THIS CERTIFICATE is transferable only upon presentation and surrender at the principal 

payment office of the Paying Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas, duly endorsed for transfer or 

Page 59

ITEM #7.



-13- 
#8000046.7 

accompanied by an assignment duly executed by the registered owner or his authorized 

representative, subject to the terms and conditions of the Ordinance. 

THIS CERTIFICATE is exchangeable at the principal payment office of the Paying 

Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas, for certificates in the principal amount of $1,000 or any 

integral multiple thereof, subject to the terms and conditions of the Ordinance. 

THIS CERTIFICATE shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

benefit under the Ordinance unless this Certificate is either (i) registered by the Comptroller of 

Public Accounts of the State of Texas by registration certificate attached or affixed hereto or 

(ii) authenticated by the Paying Agent/Registrar by due execution of the authentication certificate 

endorsed hereon. 

THE REGISTERED OWNER of this Certificate, by acceptance hereof, acknowledges and 

agrees to be bound by all the terms and conditions of the Ordinance. 

THE CITY has covenanted in the Ordinance that it will at all times provide a legally 

qualified paying agent/registrar for the Certificates and will cause notice of any change of paying 

agent/registrar to be mailed to each registered owner. 

IT IS HEREBY certified, recited and covenanted that this Certificate has been duly and 

validly issued and delivered; that all acts, conditions and things required or proper to be performed, 

to exist and to be done precedent to or in the issuance and delivery of this Certificate have been 

performed, exist and have been done in accordance with law; and that annual ad valorem taxes, 

within the limits prescribed by law, sufficient to provide for the payment of the interest, if any, on 

and principal of this Certificate, as such interest comes due and such principal matures, have been 

levied and ordered to be levied against all taxable property in the City. 

IT IS FURTHER certified, recited and represented that the Surplus Revenues (as defined 

in the Ordinance) to be derived from the operation of the City’s System (as defined in the 

Ordinance), are pledged to the payment of the Certificates.  The City reserves the right to issue, 

for any lawful purpose at any time, in one or more installments, bonds, certificates of obligation 

and other obligations of any kind payable in whole or in part from the Surplus Revenues, secured 

by a pledge of the Surplus Revenues that may be on a parity with, or junior and subordinate to the 

pledge of Surplus Revenues securing the Certificates. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate has been signed with the manual or facsimile 

signature of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem of the City and countersigned with the manual or 

facsimile signature of the City Secretary of the City, and the official seal of the City has been duly 

impressed, or placed in facsimile, on this Certificate. 

  

Page 60

ITEM #7.



-14- 
#8000046.7 

   

City Secretary 

City of Bay City, Texas 

 Mayor [Pro Tem] 1 

City of Bay City, Texas 

 

[SEAL] 

(b) Form of Registration Certificate of Comptroller. 

COMPTROLLER’S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE: REGISTER NO. ___________ 

I hereby certify that this Certificate has been examined, certified as to validity, and 

approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this Certificate has been registered 

by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas. 

WITNESS MY SIGNATURE AND SEAL this _______________________________. 

 

 

Comptroller of Public Accounts of 

the State of Texas 

(SEAL) 

 

(c) Form of Paying Agent/Registrar’s Authentication Certificate. 

AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE 

It is hereby certified that this Certificate has been delivered pursuant to the Ordinance 

described in the text of this Certificate. 

ZIONS BANCORPORATOION, NATIONAL 

ASSOCIATION, AMEGY BANK DIVISION, 

as Paying Agent/Registrar 

By:  

 Authorized Signature 

  

Date of Authentication:  

(d) Form of Assignment. 

                                                 
1 Delete if the Mayor executes the Initial Certificate. 

Page 61

ITEM #7.



-15- 
#8000046.7 

ASSIGNMENT 

 For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto  

   

   
(Please print or type name, address, and zip code of Transferee) 

   
(Please insert Social Security or Taxpayer Identification Number of Transferee) 

the within Certificate and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

   

attorney to transfer said Certificate on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of 

substitution in the premises. 

 

DATED:    

   

   

Signature Guaranteed:   

  Registered Owner 

  NOTICE:  The signature above must 

correspond to the name of the registered 

owner as shown on the face of this 

Certificate in every particular, without any 

alteration, enlargement or change 

whatsoever. 

  

 

 

NOTICE:  Signature must be guaranteed by a 

member firm of the New York Stock Exchange 

or a commercial bank or trust company. 

  

 

(e) The Initial Certificate shall be in the form set forth in paragraphs (a), (b) and (d) of 

this Section, except for the following alterations: 

(i) immediately under the name of the Certificate, the heading 

“MATURITY DATE” shall be completed with the words “As Shown Below” and 

the words “CUSIP NO.” deleted; 

(ii) in the first paragraph of the Certificate, the words “on the Maturity 

Date specified above” shall be deleted and the following shall be inserted after the 

last sentence in the first paragraph, “The principal shall be paid in installments on 

September 1 in each of the years and in the principal amounts identified in the 

following schedule:” 

[Information to be inserted from schedule in Section 5] 

(iii) the Initial Certificate shall be numbered I-1. 

17. CUSIP Numbers.  CUSIP Numbers may be printed on the Certificates, but errors 

or omissions in the printing of such numbers shall have no effect on the validity of the Certificates. 

Page 62

ITEM #7.



-16- 
#8000046.7 

18. Interest and Sinking Fund; Tax Levy.  The proceeds from all taxes levied, assessed 

and collected for and on account of the Certificates authorized by this Ordinance shall be deposited, 

as collected, in a special fund to be designated “City of Bay City, Texas, Tax and Surplus Revenue 

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021A (CWSRF) Interest and Sinking Fund”.  While the 

Certificates or any part of the principal thereof or interest thereon remain outstanding and unpaid, 

there is hereby levied and there shall be annually levied, assessed and collected in due time, form 

and manner, and at the same time other City taxes are levied, assessed and collected, in each year, 

a continuing direct annual ad valorem tax, within the limits prescribed by law, upon all taxable 

property in the City sufficient to pay the current interest on the Certificates as the same becomes 

due, and to provide and maintain a sinking fund adequate to pay the principal of the Certificates 

as such principal matures, but never less than two percent (2%) of the original principal amount of 

the Certificates each year, full allowance being made for delinquencies and costs of collection, and 

such taxes when collected shall be applied to the payment of the interest on and principal of the 

Certificates and to no other purpose. 

To pay the debt service coming due on the Certificates prior to the receipt of the taxes 

levied to pay such debt serviced, there is hereby appropriated from current funds on hand, which 

are hereby certified to be on hand and available for such purpose, an amount sufficient to pay such 

debt service, and such amount shall be used for no other purpose. 

19. Pledge of Revenues. 

(a) The Surplus Revenues to be derived from the operation of the System are hereby 

pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Certificates as the same come due.  

The City also reserves the right to issue, for any lawful purpose at any time, in one or more 

installments, bonds, certificates of obligation and other obligations of any kind payable in whole 

or in part from the Surplus Revenues, secured by a pledge of the Surplus Revenues that may be 

senior to, on a parity with, or junior and subordinate to the pledge of Surplus Revenues securing 

the Certificates. 

(b) While the Certificates are outstanding, the City will at all times maintain sufficient 

rates and charges for the payment of the maintenance and operation expenses of the System and, 

to the extent that ad valorem taxes are not available for such purpose, the City will at all times 

maintain sufficient rates and charges to produce revenues not less than 1.10 times the annual debt 

service obligations of all outstanding obligations of the City secured in whole or in part by the 

Surplus Revenues of the System for which the City is budgeting to make payments from Surplus 

Revenues, for the payment of debt service on the Certificates. Upon the written request of the 

TWDB, the City shall provide documentation that evidences the levy of ad valorem taxes for the 

payment of debt service on the Certificates or information demonstrating that the City has 

budgeted Surplus Revenues of the System or other lawfully available revenues sufficient for the 

payment of debt service on the Certificates. 

(c) If System revenues are actually on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund in 

advance of the time when ad valorem taxes are scheduled to be levied for any year, the amount of 

taxes that otherwise would have been required to be levied may be reduced to the extent and by 

the amount of revenues then on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund. 

Page 63

ITEM #7.



-17- 
#8000046.7 

(d) If the City does not levy taxes in any year as provided in Section 18 and Section 

19(c) above, the City shall transfer and deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund each month an 

amount of not less than 1/12th of the annual debt service on the Certificates until the amount on 

deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund equals the amount required for annual debt service on the 

Certificates and the City shall not transfer Surplus Revenues from the System to any fund other 

than the Interest and Sinking Fund until such times as an amount equal to the annual debt service 

on the Certificates for the then current fiscal year has been deposited in the Interest and Sinking 

Fund. 

(e) Each year that the Certificates are outstanding, and prior to the time taxes are to be 

levied for such year, the City shall establish, adopt, and maintain an annual budget that provides 

for the monthly deposit of sufficient Surplus Revenues, the monthly deposit of any other legally 

available funds on hand at the time of the adoption of the annual budget, the deposit of tax 

revenues, or a combination thereof, into the Interest and Sinking Fund for the payment of debt 

service on the Certificates. 

20. Application of Chapter 1208, Government Code.  Chapter 1208, Government 

Code, applies to the issuance of the Certificates and the pledge of the taxes and revenues granted 

by the City under Sections 18 and 19 of this Ordinance, and such pledge is therefore valid, effective 

and perfected.  If Texas law is amended at any time while the Certificates are outstanding and 

unpaid such that the pledge of the taxes and revenues granted by the City under Sections 18 and 

19 of this Ordinance is to be subject to the filing requirements of Chapter 9, Business & Commerce 

Code, then in order to preserve to the registered owners of the Certificates the perfection of the 

security interest in said pledge, the City agrees to take such measures as it determines are 

reasonable and necessary under Texas law to comply with the applicable provisions of Chapter 9, 

Business & Commerce Code and enable a filing to perfect the security interest in said pledge to 

occur. 

21. Further Proceedings.  After the Initial Certificate has been executed, it shall be the 

duty of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem of the City to deliver the Initial Certificate and all pertinent 

records and proceedings to the Attorney General of Texas, for examination and approval.  After 

the Initial Certificate has been approved by the Attorney General, it shall be delivered to the 

Comptroller for registration.  Upon registration of the Initial Certificate, the Comptroller (or a 

deputy lawfully designated in writing to act for the Comptroller) shall manually sign the 

Comptroller’s Registration Certificate prescribed herein to be affixed or attached to the Certificates 

to be initially issued, and the seal of said Comptroller shall be impressed, or placed in facsimile, 

thereon. 

22. Sale.  The Certificates are hereby sold and shall be delivered to the TWDB, as soon 

as practicable after adoption of this Ordinance, at a price of par, subject to the approval of the 

Attorney General of Texas and Bond Counsel. At the time the Certificates are delivered to the 

TWDB, the City shall pay an origination fee to the TWDB equal to [__________%] 

([$__________]) of the Project costs, in accordance with the rules of the TWDB.  The Mayor or 

Mayor Pro Tem and other appropriate officers, agents and representatives of the City are hereby 

authorized to do any and all things necessary or desirable to provide for the issuance and delivery 

of the Certificates. 

Page 64

ITEM #7.



-18- 
#8000046.7 

23. Books and Records.  So long as any of the Certificates are outstanding the City 

covenants and agrees that it will keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and 

correct entries will be made of all transactions relating to the Certificates and the funds created 

pursuant to this Ordinance, and all books, documents and vouchers relating thereto shall at all 

reasonable times be made available for inspection upon request of any Owner. 

24. Provisions Concerning Federal Income Tax Matters. 

(a) General.  The City covenants not to take any action or omit to take any action that, 

if taken or omitted, would cause the interest on the Certificates to be includable in gross income 

for federal income tax purposes. In furtherance thereof, the City covenants to comply with sections 

103 and 141 through 150 of the Code and the provisions set forth in the Federal Tax Certificate 

executed by the City in connection with the Certificates. 

(b) No Private Activity Bonds.  The City covenants that it will use the proceeds of the 

Certificates (including investment income) and the property financed, directly or indirectly, with 

such proceeds so that the Certificates will not be “private activity bonds” within the meaning of 

section 141 of the Code.  Furthermore, the City will not take a deliberate action (as defined in 

section 1.141-2(d)(3) of the Regulations) that causes the Certificates to be a “private activity bond” 

unless it takes a remedial action permitted by section 1.141-12 of the Regulations. 

(c) No Federal Guarantee.  The City covenants not to take any action or omit to take 

any action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Certificates to be “federally guaranteed” 

within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code, except as permitted by section 149(b)(3) of the 

Code. 

(d) No Hedge Bonds. The City covenants not to take any action or omit to take action 

that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Certificates to be “hedge bonds” within the meaning of 

section 149(g) of the Code.   

(e) No Arbitrage Bonds.  The City covenants that it will make such use of the proceeds 

of the Certificates (including investment income) and regulate the investment of such proceeds of 

the Certificates so that the Certificates will not be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of section 

148(a) of the Code.   

(f) Required Rebate.  The City covenants that, if the City does not qualify for an 

exception to the requirements of section 148(f) of the Code, the City will comply with the 

requirement that certain amounts earned by the City on the investment of the gross proceeds of the 

Certificates, be rebated to the United States.   

(g) Information Reporting.  The City covenants to file or cause to be filed with the 

Secretary of the Treasury an information statement concerning the Certificates in accordance with 

section 149(e) of the Code. 

(h) Record Retention.  The City covenants to retain all material records relating to the 

expenditure of the proceeds (including investment income) of the Certificates and the use of the 

property financed, directly or indirectly, thereby until six years after the last Certificate is redeemed 

Page 65

ITEM #7.



-19- 
#8000046.7 

or paid at maturity (or such other period as provided by subsequent guidance issued by the 

Department of the Treasury) in a manner that ensures their complete access throughout such 

retention period.   

(i) Registration.  If the Certificates are “registration-required bonds” under section 

149(a)(2) of the Code, the Certificates will be issued in registered form. 

(j) Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City will 

not be required to comply with any of the federal tax covenants set forth above if the City has 

received an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that such noncompliance will not 

adversely affect the excludability of interest on the Certificates from gross income for federal 

income tax purposes. 

(k) Continuing Compliance.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, 

the City’s obligations under the federal tax covenants set forth above will survive the defeasance 

and discharge of the Certificates for as long as such matters are relevant to the excludability of 

interest on the Certificates from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

(l) Official Intent.  For purposes of section 1.150-2(d) of the Regulations, to the extent 

that an official intent to reimburse has not previously been adopted by the City, this Ordinance 

serves as the City’s official declaration of intent to use proceeds of the Certificates to reimburse 

itself from proceeds of the Certificates issued in the maximum amount for certain expenditures 

paid in connection with the projects set forth herein.  Any such reimbursement will only be made 

(i) for an original expenditure paid no earlier than 60 days prior to the date hereof and (ii) not later 

than 18 months after the later of (A) the date the original expenditure is paid or (B) the date of 

with the project to which such expenditure relates is placed in service or abandoned, but in to event 

more than three years after the original expenditure is paid. 

(m) Source Series Bonds.  The City covenants that neither the City nor a related party 

thereto will acquire any of the TWDB’s Source Series Bonds in an amount related to the amount 

of the Certificates to be acquired from the City by the TWDB. 

(n) Advanced Refunding.  The City covenants to refrain from using the proceeds of the 

Certificates to pay debt service on another issue more than 90 days after the date of issue of the 

Certificates in contravention of the requirements of section 149(d) of the Code. 

25. TWDB Resolution.  The City agrees to comply with the applicable provisions of 

TWDB Resolution No. 21-______, which authorized the financial assistance evidenced by the 

Certificates.   

26. Escrow Agreement.  To facilitate the delivery of and payment for the Certificates 

pending completion of review of plans and specifications, the City Council hereby authorizes an 

Escrow Agreement to be entered into by and between the City and the Escrow Agent, the terms 

and conditions of which are hereby approved, subject to such insertions, additions, and 

modifications as shall be necessary to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and procedures 

and to carry out the intent and purposes of this Ordinance.  The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and the 

Page 66

ITEM #7.



-20- 
#8000046.7 

City Secretary are authorized to execute and deliver such Escrow Agreement in multiple 

counterparts on behalf of the City. 

27. Project Fund.  There is hereby created and established a special fund of the City, to 

be known as the “City of Bay City, Texas, Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, 

Series 2021A (CWSRF) Project Fund,” which shall be established at an official depository of the 

City and kept separate and apart from other funds of the City.  The proceeds of the Certificates, 

shall be deposited in the escrow account for the Certificates that is maintained by the Escrow Agent 

for the benefit of the City and TWDB under and as more specifically provided in the Escrow 

Agreement. Upon release from the escrow account, such proceeds shall be deposited and held in 

the Project Fund until used for authorized purposes. The proceeds of the Certificates, as received, 

shall be deposited in the Project Fund.  Money on deposit in the Project Fund and all interest, and 

income derived therefrom shall be used only for the purposes set forth in Section 3 of this 

Ordinance and to pay costs of issuance.  Money on deposit in the Project Fund, may, at the option 

of the City, be invested as permitted by Texas law including, particularly, the Public Funds 

Investment Act, Texas Government Code, Chapter 2256, and the Public Funds Collateral Act, 

Texas Government Code, Chapter 2257; provided that all such deposits and investments shall be 

made in such manner that the money required to be expended from the Project Fund will be 

available at the proper time or times. Certificate proceeds deposited in the Project Fund shall be 

timely and expeditiously used, in accordance with the schedule for the Project approved by the 

TWDB, as may be amended from time to time.  The City will maintain project accounts in 

accordance with generally accepted government accounting standards, including standards related 

to the reporting of infrastructure assets. 

28. TWDB Rules.  In compliance with the published rules and regulations of the 

TWDB, the City covenants and agrees that upon final completion of the project to be financed 

with the proceeds of the Certificates, and if all or any portion of the Certificates shall be held by 

or on account of the TWDB or the State of Texas, the proper officials of the City shall render due 

and final accounting to the TWDB of the total cost of the Project and provide a copy of as-built 

plans for the Project.  If, following completion of the Project, funds remain on hand in the Project 

Fund, or if the TWDB Executive Administrator (the “Executive Administrator”) disapproves 

construction of any portion of the Project as not being in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, the City shall use any remaining funds for enhancements to the Project that are 

approved by the Executive Administrator, or, if no enhancements are authorized by the Executive 

Administrator, the City shall submit to the TWDB a final accounting and describe the proposed 

disposition of the any unused funds.  If any funds are determined to be surplus funds remaining 

after the completion of the Project and the completion of a final accounting, such surplus funds 

shall be used for purposes approved by the Executive Administrator.  Unless otherwise stated in 

the loan commitment of the TWDB with respect to the purchase of the Certificates, in determining 

the amount of available funds for constructing the Project to be financed, the City shall account 

for all monies in the Project Fund, including all loan funds extended by the TWDB, all other funds 

available from the Project as described in the Project engineer’s sufficiency of funds statement 

required for closing the TWDB’s loan and all interest, earned by the City on money in the Project 

Fund.  This requirement shall not be interpreted as prohibiting the TWDB from enforcing such 

other rights as it may have under law. 

Page 67

ITEM #7.



-21- 
#8000046.7 

29. Outlay Reports.  The City agrees to submit outlay reports with sufficient 

documentation on costs on a quarterly or monthly basis in accordance with TWDB outlay report 

guidelines. 

30. Environmental Indemnification.  The City shall not use proceeds from the sale of 

the Certificates for sampling, testing, removing or disposing of contaminated soils and/or media 

at the Project site. To the extent permitted by law, the City agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and 

protect the TWDB from any and all claims, causes of action or damages to the person or property 

of third parties arising from the sampling, analysis, transport, storage, treatment and disposition of 

any contaminated sewage sludge, contaminated sediments and/or contaminated media that may be 

generated by the City, its contractors, consultants, agents, officials and employees as a result of 

activities relating to the Project. 

31. Insurance.  The City covenants that the Project will be kept continually insured 

against such perils in an amount sufficient to protect the TWDB’s interest in the Project, to the 

extent that insurance is customarily carried by cities operating similar facilities in similar locations; 

provided, however, that the City shall not be required to maintain such insurance so long as 

builders risk insurance covering such facilities during the period of construction is in effect. 

32. Compliance with Rules and Statutes.  The City covenants that it will comply with 

TWDB’s rules and relevant state statutes in connection with the sale of the Certificates to TWDB 

and the use of the proceeds in connection with the Project approved by TWDB. 

33. Compliance with Environmental Findings of Executive Administrator.   The City 

covenants that it will comply with the conditions specified in the final environmental finding of 

the Executive Administrator when issued, including the standing emergency discovery conditions 

for threatened and endangered species and cultural resources. 

34. Audited Financial Statements.  The City shall annually submit to the TWDB a copy 

of its audited financial statements, which shall be prepared by a certified public accountant in 

accordance with the accounting principles the City may be required to employ from time to time 

pursuant to State law or regulation. 

35. Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Federal Disadvantaged Business Enterprises 

Program.  Laborers and mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project 

shall be paid wages at rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character in the 

locality in accordance with the Davis-Bacon Act, and the U.S. Department of Labor’s 

implementing regulations. The City, all contractors, and all sub-contractors shall ensure that all 

Project contracts mandate compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act. All contracts and subcontracts 

for the construction of the Project carried out in whole or in part with Certificate proceeds shall 

insert in full in any contract in excess of $2,000 the contracts clauses as provided by the TWDB.  

The City covenants to comply with all applicable State and federal procurement requirements, 

including the federal procurement requirements under the Disadvantaged Business Enterprises 

program. 

36. Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act.  The City shall provide the 

TWDB with all information required to be reported in accordance with the Federal Funding 

Page 68

ITEM #7.



-22- 
#8000046.7 

Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006, Pub. L. 109-282, as amended by Pub. L. 110-252. 

The City shall obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number and shall register with 

System for Award Management (SAM), and maintain current registration at all times during which 

the Certificates are outstanding. 

37. Use of Iron and Steel Products. The City covenants that it will abide by all 

applicable construction contract requirements related to the use of iron and steel products produced 

in the United States, as required by 31 TAC § 375.3, 33 U.S.C. § 1388, and related State Revolving 

Fund Policy Guidelines. 

38. Maintenance of Project Fund.   The City covenants that it will maintain the Project 

Fund in accordance with generally accepted government accounting principles.   

39. Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.   

(a) Annual Reports.  The City agrees to provide to the MSRB, in electronic format, 

accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB, within six months after the 

end of each fiscal year, financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the 

general type included in the City’s annual financial statements. The information will also include 

the audited financial statements of the City, if the City commissions an audit and it is completed 

within the required time.  If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within such 

period, then the City will provide unaudited financial statements within such six month period to 

the MSRB, and audited financial statements if and when the audit report on such statements 

becomes available.  Any financial statements so to be provided shall be prepared in accordance 

with the accounting principles the City may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to 

State law or regulation. All such information and operating data shall be provided to the MSRB, 

in an electronic format, accompanied by identifying information, as prescribed by the MSRB, and 

will be available via the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) System at 

www.emma.msrb.org. 

If the City changes its fiscal year, the City will notify the MSRB of any such change (and 

of the date of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the City would otherwise be 

required to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section. 

All such information and operating data may be provided to the MSRB in full in one or 

more documents, or may be included by specific reference to documents available to the public 

(including an Official Statement or other offering document, if it is available from the MSRB). 

(b) Event Notices.  The City shall provide the following to the MSRB, in an electronic 

format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after 

the occurrence of the event, notice of any of the following events with respect to the Certificates: 

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(2) Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(3) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

Page 69

ITEM #7.



-23- 
#8000046.7 

(4) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(5) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(6) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 

proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue 

(IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with 

respect to the tax status of Certificates, or other material events affecting the 

tax status of the Certificates; 

(7) Modifications to rights of the holders of the Certificates, if material; 

(8) Certificate calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(9) Defeasances; 

(10) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 

Certificates, if material; 

(11) Rating changes; 

(12) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City; 

Note to paragraph 12: For the purposes of the event identified in paragraph 

12 of this section, the event is considered to occur when any of the following 

occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the 

City in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other 

proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental 

authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or 

business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the 

existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject 

to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the 

entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or 

liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or 

jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City. 

(13) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the 

City or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than 

in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to 

undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement 

relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; 

(14) Appointment of successor or additional paying agent/registrar or the change 

of name of a paying agent/registrar, if material; 

(15) Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the City, if material, or agreement 

to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar 

terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, any of which affect security 

Page 70

ITEM #7.



-24- 
#8000046.7 

holders, if material; and 

(16) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or 

other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, 

any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

Note to paragraphs (15) and (16):  For purposes of the events identified in 

paragraphs (15) and (16) of this section and in the definition of Financial 

Obligation in Section 2, the City intends the words used in such paragraphs 

to have the meanings ascribed to them in SEC Release No. 34-83885 dated 

August 20, 2018 (the “2018 Release”) and any further amendments or 

written guidance provided by the SEC or its staff with respect with respect 

to the amendments to the Rule effected by the 2018 Release. 

The City shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the City to provide 

financial information or operating data in accordance with Section 38(a). All documents provided 

to the MSRB pursuant to this section shall be accompanied by identifying information as 

prescribed by the MSRB. 

(c) Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments.  The City shall be obligated to observe 

and perform the covenants specified in this Section for so long as, but only for so long as, the City 

remains an “obligated person” with respect to the Certificates within the meaning of the Rule, 

except that the City in any event will give notice of any redemption calls and any defeasances that 

cause the City to be no longer an “obligated person.” 

The provisions of this Section are for the sole benefit of the Owners and beneficial owners 

of the Certificates, and nothing in this Section, express or implied, shall give any benefit or any 

legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person.  The City undertakes to 

provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and notices which it 

has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Section and does not hereby undertake to provide 

any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the City’s 

financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any information provided 

in accordance with this Section or otherwise, except as expressly provided herein.  The City does 

not make any representation or warranty concerning such information or its usefulness to a 

decision to invest in or sell Certificates at any future date. 

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO THE OWNER 

OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY CERTIFICATE OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN 

CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM 

ANY BREACH BY THE CITY, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITH OR WITHOUT FAULT 

ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS SECTION, BUT EVERY RIGHT 

AND REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON 

ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR 

MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE. 

Page 71

ITEM #7.



-25- 
#8000046.7 

No default by the City in observing or performing its obligations under this Section shall 

constitute a breach of or default under this Ordinance for purposes of any other provisions of this 

Ordinance. 

Nothing in this Section is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the 

duties of the City under federal and state securities laws. 

The provisions of this Section may be amended by the City from time to time to adapt to 

changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change 

in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, but only if (i) the provisions of this 

Section, as so amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Certificates in 

the primary offering of the Certificates in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any 

amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as well as such changed 

circumstances, and (ii) either (A) the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount (or any 

greater amount required by any other provisions of this Ordinance that authorizes such an 

amendment) of the outstanding Certificates consent to such amendment or (B) a person that is 

unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that such 

amendment will not materially impair the interests of the Owners and beneficial owners of the 

Certificates.  If the City so amends the provisions of this Section, it shall include with any amended 

financial information or operating data next provided in accordance with Section 34(a) an 

explanation, in narrative form, of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change 

in the type of financial information or operating data so provided. 

40. Private Placement Memorandum.  The form and substance of the Private Placement 

Memorandum for the Certificates dated June 23, 2021, and any addenda, supplement or 

amendment thereto (the “Private Placement Memorandum”), presented to and considered at this 

meeting, are hereby in all respects approved and adopted. The proper officials of the City are 

hereby authorized to execute such Private Placement Memorandum as prescribed therein. 

41. Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar; Paying Agent Registrar 

Agreement.   

(a) Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Amegy Bank Division, Houston, 

Texas, is hereby appointed as the initial Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates.  

(b) The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep such books or records and make such 

transfers and registrations under such reasonable regulations as the City and the Paying 

Agent/Registrar may prescribe; and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make such transfer and 

registrations as herein provided.  It shall be the duty of the Paying Agent/Registrar to obtain from 

the Owners and record in the Register the address of such Owner of each Certificate to which 

payments with respect to the Certificates shall be mailed, as provided herein.  The City or its 

designee shall have the right to inspect the Register during regular business hours of the Paying 

Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Register confidential 

and, unless otherwise required by law, shall not permit their inspection by any other entity. 

(c) The City hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar to act as the paying 

agent for paying the principal of and interest, on the Certificates.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall 

Page 72

ITEM #7.



-26- 
#8000046.7 

keep proper records of all payments made by the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect 

to the Certificates, and of all conversions, exchanges and replacements of such Certificates, as 

provided in the Ordinance. 

(d) The form of Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement setting forth the duties of the 

Paying Agent/Registrar is hereby approved, and the appropriate officials of the City are hereby 

authorized to execute such agreement for and on behalf of the City. 

42. Maintenance, Termination and Replacement of Paying Agent/Registrar. 

(a) At all times while any Certificates are outstanding, the City will maintain a Paying 

Agent/Registrar that is qualified under this Section 41 of the Ordinance. 

(b) If the Paying Agent/Registrar resigns or otherwise ceases to serve as such, the City 

will promptly appoint a replacement, provided no such resignation shall be effective until a 

successor Paying Agent/Registrar has accepted the duties of Paying Agent/Registrar for the 

Certificates. 

(c) Each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank or trust company 

organized under the laws of the State, or any other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to 

serve as and perform the duties and services of paying agent and registrar for the Certificates. 

(d) The City reserves the right to terminate the appointment of any Paying 

Agent/Registrar by (i) delivering to the entity whose appointment is to be terminated forty-five 

(45) days written notice of the termination of the appointment and of the Paying Agent/Registrar 

Agreement, stating the effective date of such termination, and (ii) appointing a successor Paying 

Agent/Registrar; provided, that, no such termination shall be effective until a successor Paying 

Agent/Registrar has assumed the duties of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates. 

(e) Promptly upon each change in the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar, the 

City will cause notice of the change to be sent to each Owner by United States mail, first class, 

postage prepaid, at the address in the Register, stating the effective date of the change and the 

name and mailing address of the replacement Paying Agent/Registrar. 

(f) By accepting the appointment as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying 

Agent/Registrar is deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Ordinance and that it will 

perform the duties and functions of Paying Agent/Registrar prescribed hereby and under the 

Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement. 

(g) If a Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced, such Paying Agent/Registrar, promptly 

upon the appointment of the successor, will deliver the Register (or a copy thereof) and all other 

pertinent books and records relating to the Certificates to the successor Paying Agent/Registrar. 

43. Remedies.  TWDB shall have all remedies available at law or in equity with respect 

to the Certificates, and any provision of the Certificates that restricts or limits TWDB’s exercise 

of such remedies shall be of no force and effect. 

Page 73

ITEM #7.



-27- 
#8000046.7 

44. Changes to Ordinance.  Bond Counsel is hereby authorized to make changes to the 

terms of this Ordinance if necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes hereof or in connection 

with the approval of the issuance of the Certificates by the Attorney General of Texas. 

45. Related Matters.  To satisfy in a timely manner all of the City’s obligations under 

this Ordinance, the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem, the City Secretary and all other appropriate officers 

and agents of the City are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary and/or 

convenient to carry out the terms and purposes of this Ordinance. 

46. Individuals Not Liable.  No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement herein 

contained shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any member 

of City Council or agent or employee of City Council or of the City in his or her individual capacity 

and neither the members of City Council nor any officer thereof, nor any agent or employee of 

City Council or of the City, shall be liable personally on the Certificates, or be subject to any 

personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. 

47. Severability and Savings.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 

Ordinance shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such Section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the 

remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

48. Repealer.  All ordinances or resolutions, or parts thereof, heretofore adopted by the 

City and inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of 

such conflict. 

49. Force and Effect.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

final passage, and it is so ordered.  This Ordinance completely amends, replaces, and supersedes 

the Original Ordinance. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 

Page 74

ITEM #7.



 

Signature Page to Ordinance No. ______ 

 
#8000046.7 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 9th day of March, 2021, by the City Council of the City 

of Bay City, Texas. 

 

Council Member:  Voted Aye  Voted No  Absent 

 

Robert K. Nelson, 

  

 

    

Mayor 

 

Floyce Brown 

  

 

    

 

James Foles 

  

 

    

 

Brent P. Marceaux 

  

 

    

 

Becca Sitz 

  

 

    

 

Jason W. Childers, 

  

 

    

  Mayor Pro Tem 

 

  

 

        ______________________________ 

        Robert K. Nelson, Mayor 

        City of Bay City 

 

ATTEST: 

        

[SEAL] 

 

___________________________________ 

Jenna Thompson, City Secretary 

City of Bay City 

  

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

City Attorney 

City of Bay City 

 

Page 75

ITEM #7.



-29- 
#8000046.7 

 

Page 76

ITEM #7.



 

 

 
#8000046.7 

CERTIFICATE FOR ORDINANCE 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 

COUNTY OF MATAGORDA § 

 

I, the undersigned officer of the City Council of the City of Bay City, Texas, hereby certify 

as follows: 

 

1. The City Council of the City of Bay City, Texas, convened in a regular meeting on 

the 9th day of March, 2021, and the roll was called of the duly constituted officers and members of 

said City Council, to wit: 

 

Robert K. Nelson Mayor 

Floyce Brown Council Member, Position No. 1 

James Foles Council Member, Position No. 2 

Brent Marceau x Council Member, Position No. 3 

Becca Sitz Council Member, Position No. 4 

Jason W. Childers Mayor Pro Temp and Council Member, Position No. 5 

  

 

and all of said persons were present, except the following absentee(s): ______________________, 

thus constituting a quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted at 

said meeting, a written 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY OF BAY 

CITY, TEXAS, TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF 

OBLIGATION, SERIES 2021A (CWSRF); AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND 

DELIVERY OF A PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT AND AN 

ESCROW AGREEMENT RELATING TO SUCH CERTIFICATES; 

PRESCRIBING THE FORM OF SAID CERTIFICATES; LEVYING A TAX 

AND PLEDGING SURPLUS REVENUES OF THE WATER AND SEWER 

SYSTEM IN PAYMENT THEREOF; AND ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS 

RELATING THERETO 

 

was duly introduced for the consideration of said City Council.  It was then duly moved and 

seconded that said ordinance be adopted; and, after due discussion, said motion, carrying with it 

the adoption of said ordinance, prevailed and carried by the following vote: 

 

 Member(s) of City Council shown present voted “Aye.” 

  

 Member(s) of City Council shown present voted “No.” 

  

 Member(s) of City Council shown present abstained from voting. 

 

Page 77

ITEM #7.



 

-2- 
#8000046.7 

2. A true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid ordinance adopted at the meeting 

described in the above and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this certificate; that said 

ordinance has been duly recorded in said City Council’s minutes of said meeting; that the above 

and foregoing paragraph is a true, full and correct excerpt from said City Council’s minutes of said 

meeting pertaining to the adoption of said ordinance; that the persons named in the above and 

foregoing paragraph are the duly chosen, qualified and acting officers and members of said City 

Council as indicated therein; that each of the officers and members of said City Council was duly 

and sufficiently notified officially and personally, in advance, of the date, hour, place and purpose 

of the aforesaid meeting, and that said ordinance would be introduced and considered for adoption 

at said meeting, and each of said officers and members consented, in advance, to the holding of 

said meeting for such purpose; that said meeting was open to the public as required by law; and 

that public notice of the date, hour, place and subject of said meeting was given as required by 

Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 

 

SIGNED AND SEALED this 9th day of March, 2021. 

 

 

 

 

   

[SEAL]  City Secretary 

City of Bay City, Texas  

 

Page 78

ITEM #7.



DRAFT – 2/26/21 

 
#8000053.5 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY OF BAY 

CITY, TEXAS, TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF 

OBLIGATION, SERIES 2021B (DWSRF); AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND 

DELIVERY OF A PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT AND AN 

ESCROW AGREEMENT RELATING TO SUCH CERTIFICATES; 

PRESCRIBING THE FORM OF SAID CERTIFICATES; LEVYING A TAX 

AND PLEDGING SURPLUS REVENUES OF THE WATER AND SEWER 

SYSTEM IN PAYMENT THEREOF; AND ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS 

RELATING THERETO 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

COUNTY OF MATAGORDA § 

CITY OF BAY CITY § 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bay City, Texas (the “City”), authorized the 

publication of a notice of intention to issue certificates of obligation to the effect that the City 

Council would meet on March 9, 2021 to adopt an ordinance and take such other action as may be 

deemed necessary to authorize the issuance of certificates of obligation payable from City ad 

valorem taxes and from a pledge of and lien on the surplus revenues of the City’s water and sewer 

system, for the purpose of evidencing the indebtedness of the City for all or any part of the costs 

associated with the improvements to the City’s water system, including the planning, acquisition, 

design and construction of two water plants, including water wells, ground storage tanks, 

hydropneumatic tanks, booster pump stations, disinfection equipment, and related infrastructure 

and equipment, water transmission lines, water meter replacements, and the costs of professional 

services related thereto; and 

WHEREAS, such notice was published at the times and in the manner required by the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, particularly Subchapter C, Chapter 271, Texas Local 

Government Code, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, no petition or other request has been filed with or presented to any official of 

the City requesting that any of the proceedings authorizing such Certificates (as defined herein) be 

submitted to a referendum or other election; and 

WHEREAS, the City is authorized to make the pledge of Surplus Revenues (as defined 

herein) pursuant to Chapter 1502, Texas Government Code; and 

WHEREAS, the City is now authorized and empowered to proceed with the issuance and 

sale of the Certificates, and has found and determined that it is necessary and in the best interests 

of the City and its citizens that it issue the Certificates in accordance with the terms and provisions 

of this Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the meeting at which this Ordinance is being considered is open to the public 

as required by law, and the public notice of the time, place and purpose of said meeting was given 

as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code; Now, Therefore 

Page 79

ITEM #8.



-2- 
#8000053.5 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS: 

1. Recitals.  It is hereby found and determined that the matters and facts set out in the 

preamble to this Ordinance are true and correct and incorporated herein for all purposes. 

2. Definitions.  Unless otherwise expressly provided or unless the context clearly 

requires otherwise in this Ordinance, the following terms shall have the same meanings specified 

below: 

“Act” means Chapter 271, Texas Local Government Code, as amended. 

“Attorney General” means the Attorney General of the State of Texas. 

“Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations” means the Blanket Issuer Letter of 

Representations between the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and DTC. 

“Bond Counsel” means Bracewell LLP. 

“Business Day” means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or a day on which the 

Paying Agent/Registrar is authorized by law or executive order to close, or a legal holiday. 

“Certificate” or “Certificates” means the City of Bay City, Texas, Tax and Surplus Revenue 

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021B (DWSRF) authorized in this Ordinance, unless the context 

clearly indicates otherwise. 

“City” means the City of Bay City, Texas. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and, with respect to a 

specific section thereof, such reference shall be deemed to include (a) the Regulations promulgated 

under such section, (b) any successor provision of similar import hereafter enacted, (c) any 

corresponding provision of any subsequent Internal Revenue Code and (d) the regulations 

promulgated under the provisions described in (b) and (c).  

 “Comptroller” means the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas. 

 “DTC” means The Depository Trust Company of New York, New York, or any successor 

securities depository. 

“DTC Participant” means brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 

corporations and certain other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created to hold securities 

to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC Participants. 

“Escrow Agent” means Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Amegy Bank 

Division, Houston, Texas, and its successors and assigns, or such other escrow agent as may be 

approved by the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and acceptable to the TWDB. 

“Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement by and between the City and the Escrow 

Agent pertaining to the deposit of the proceeds of the Certificates. 

Page 80

ITEM #8.



-3- 
#8000053.5 

“Financial Obligation” means a (i) debt obligation, (ii) derivative instrument entered into 

in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 

obligation, or (iii) guarantee of a debt obligation or any such derivative instrument; provided that 

“financial obligation” shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement 

(as defined in the Rule) has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.  

“Fiscal Year” means such fiscal year as shall from time to time be set by the City Council. 

“Initial Certificate” means the Initial Certificate authorized by Section 6(d) of this 

Ordinance. 

“Interest and Sinking Fund” means the interest and sinking fund for payment of the 

Certificates established by the City in Section 18 of this Ordinance. 

“Interest Payment Date” when used in connection with any Certificate, means September 

1, 2021, and each March 1 and September 1 thereafter until maturity. 

“Issuance Date,” with respect to the Certificates initially delivered to the TWDB, shall 

mean the date on which each such Certificate is authenticated by the Paying Agent/Registrar and 

delivered to and paid for by the TWDB.  Certificates delivered on transfer of or in exchange for 

other Certificates shall bear the same Issuance Date as the Certificate or Certificates in lieu of or 

in exchange for which the new Certificate is delivered. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

“Ordinance” as used herein and in the Certificates means this ordinance authorizing the 

Certificates. 

“Owner” means any person who shall be the registered owner of any outstanding 

Certificate. 

“Paying Agent/Registrar” means Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Amegy 

Bank Division, Houston, Texas, and its successors in that capacity.  

“Project” means the improvements to the City’s water system, including the planning, 

acquisition, design and construction of two water plants, including water wells, ground storage 

tanks, hydropneumatic tanks, booster pump stations, disinfection equipment, and related 

infrastructure and equipment, water transmission lines, water meter replacements, and the costs of 

professional services related thereto. 

“Project Fund” shall mean the project fund established by the City pursuant to Section 27 

of this Ordinance. 

“Record Date” means, for any Interest Payment Date, the fifteenth day of the month next 

preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Register” means the books of registration kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar in which 

are maintained the names and addresses of and the principal amounts registered to each Owner. 

Page 81

ITEM #8.



-4- 
#8000053.5 

“Regulations” means the applicable, proposed, temporary or final Treasury Regulations 

promulgated under the Code, or, to the extent applicable to the Code, under the Internal Revenue 

Code of 1954, as such regulations may be amended or supplemented from time to time. 

“Rule” means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time. 

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

“Surplus Revenues” means the revenues available after the payment of operation and 

maintenance expenses of the System and the debt service payable from gross revenues or net 

revenues of the System, if any, as well as any other payments, costs or expenses designated in an 

ordinance authorizing the issuance of System revenue obligations. 

“System” means the City’s water and sewer system. 

“TWDB” means the Texas Water Development Board. 

3. Authorization.  The Certificates shall be issued pursuant to the Act in fully 

registered form, without coupons, in the total authorized principal amount of $2,125,000 for the 

purpose of evidencing the indebtedness of the City for all or any part of the costs associated with 

the Project. 

4. Designation and Date.  The Certificates shall be designated as the “CITY OF BAY 

CITY, TEXAS, TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 

2021B (DWSRF),” and shall be dated April 1, 2021.  The Certificates shall bear interest at the 

rates set out in Section 5 of this Ordinance, from the later of the Issuance Date or the most recent 

Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for, calculated on the basis 

of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 

5. Initial Certificates; Numbers and Denominations.  The Certificates shall be issued 

in the principal amounts and bearing interest at the rates set forth in the following schedule, and 

may be transferred and exchanged as set out in this Ordinance.  The Certificates shall mature on 

September 1 in each of the years and in the amounts set out in such schedule. The Initial Certificate 

shall be numbered I-1 and all other Certificates shall be numbered in sequence beginning with R-1.  

Certificates delivered on transfer of or in exchange for other Certificates shall be numbered in 

order of their authentication by the Paying Agent/Registrar, shall be in the denomination of $5,000 

or integral multiples thereof, and shall mature on the same date and bear interest at the same rate 

as the Certificate or Certificates in lieu of which they are delivered. 

  

Page 82

ITEM #8.



-5- 
#8000053.5 

Year 

Principal 

Amount 

Interest 

Rate 
 

Year 

Principal 

Amount 

Interest 

Rate 

2022 $60,000 %  2037 $75,000 % 

2023 60,000   2038 75,000  

2024 60,000   2039 75,000  

2025 60,000   2040 75,000  

2026 60,000   2041 80,000  

2027 65,000   2042 80,000  

2028 65,000   2043 80,000  

2029 65,000   2044 85,000  

2030 65,000   2045 85,000  

2031 65,000   2046 85,000  

2032 70,000   2047 85,000  

2033 70,000   2048 90,000  

2034 70,000   2049 90,000  

2035 70,000   2050 90,000  

2036 70,000      

6. Execution and Registration of Certificates.  (a) The Certificates shall be signed on 

behalf of the City by the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and countersigned by the City Secretary, by 

their manual, lithographed, or facsimile signatures, and the official seal of the City shall be 

impressed or placed in facsimile thereon.  Such facsimile signatures on the Certificates shall have 

the same effect as if each of the Certificates had been signed manually and in person by each of 

said officers, and such facsimile seal on the Certificates shall have the same effect as if the official 

seal of the City had been manually impressed upon each of the Certificates. 

(b) If any officer of the City whose manual or facsimile signature shall appear on the 

Certificates shall cease to be such officer before the authentication of such Certificates or before 

the delivery of such Certificates, such manual or facsimile signature shall nevertheless be valid 

and sufficient for all purposes as if such officer had remained in such office. 

(c) Except as provided below, no Certificate shall be valid or obligatory for any 

purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit of this Ordinance unless and until there appears 

thereon the Paying Agent/Registrar’s Authentication Certificate substantially in the form provided 

herein, duly authenticated by manual execution by an officer or duly authorized signatory of the 

Paying Agent/Registrar.  In lieu of the executed Registrar’s Authentication Certificate described 

above, the Initial Certificate delivered at the Issuance Date shall have attached hereto the 

Comptroller’s Registration Certificate substantially in the form provided herein, manually 

executed by the Comptroller, or by his duly authorized agent, which certificate shall be evidence 

that the Initial Certificate has been duly approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas 

and that it is a valid and binding obligation of the City, and has been registered by the Comptroller. 

(d) On the Issuance Date, the Initial Certificate, being a single certificate representing 

the entire principal amount of the Certificates, payable in stated installments to the TWDB or its 

designee, executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and City 

Secretary, approved by the Attorney General, and registered and manually signed by the 

Page 83

ITEM #8.



-6- 
#8000053.5 

Comptroller, shall be delivered to the TWDB or its designee.  Upon payment for the Initial 

Certificate, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel the Initial Certificate and deliver definitive 

Certificates to DTC. 

7. Payment of Principal and Interest.  The Paying Agent/Registrar is hereby appointed 

as the initial paying agent for the Certificates.  The principal of the Certificates shall be payable, 

without exchange or collection charges, in any coin or currency of the United States of America 

which, on the date of payment, is legal tender for the payment of debts due the United States of 

America, upon their presentation and surrender as they become due and payable at the principal 

payment office of the Paying Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas.  The interest on each Certificate 

shall be payable by check mailed by the Paying Agent/Registrar on or before each Interest Payment 

Date to the Owner of record as of the Record Date, to the address of such Owner as shown on the 

Register; provided, however, that for so long as the TWDB is the Owner of the Certificates, all 

payments of principal and interest will be made in wire transfer form at no cost to the TWDB.   

If the date for payment of the principal of any Certificate is not a Business Day, then the 

date for such payment shall be the next succeeding Business Day, with the same force and effect 

as if made on the original date payment was due. 

8. Successor Paying Agent/Registrars.  The City covenants that at all times while any 

Certificates are outstanding it will provide a commercial bank or trust company, organized under 

the laws of the United States or any which is duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and 

perform the duties and services of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates.  The City reserves 

the right to change the Paying Agent/Registrar on not less than 45 days written notice to the Paying 

Agent/Registrar, so long as any such notice is effective not less than 45 days prior to the next 

succeeding principal or interest payment date on the Certificates.  Promptly upon the appointment 

of any successor Paying Agent/Registrar, the previous Paying Agent/Registrar shall deliver the 

Register or copies thereof to the new Paying Agent/Registrar, and the new Paying Agent/Registrar 

shall notify each Owner, by United States mail, first class postage prepaid, of such change and of 

the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.  Each Paying Agent/Registrar hereunder, by acting 

in that capacity, shall be deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Section. 

9. Special Record Date.  If interest on any Certificate is not paid on any Interest 

Payment Date and continues unpaid for 30 days thereafter, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall 

establish a new record date for the payment of such interest, to be known as a Special Record Date.  

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall establish a Special Record Date when funds to make such 

interest payment are received from or on behalf of the City.  Such Special Record Date shall be 15 

days prior to the date fixed for payment of such past due interest, and notice of the date of payment 

and the Special Record Date shall be sent by United States mail, first class postage prepaid, not 

later than five (5) days prior to the Special Record Date, to each affected Owner of record as of 

the close of business on the day prior to the mailing of such notice. 

10. Ownership; Unclaimed Principal.  The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and any 

other person may treat the person in whose name any Certificate is registered as the absolute Owner 

of such Certificate for the purpose of making payment of principal on such Certificate, and for all 

other purposes, whether or not such Certificate is overdue, and neither the City nor the Paying 

Agent/Registrar shall be bound by any notice or knowledge to the contrary.  All payments made 

Page 84

ITEM #8.



-7- 
#8000053.5 

to the person deemed to be the Owner of any Certificate in accordance with this Section shall be 

valid and effectual and shall discharge the liability of the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar 

upon such Certificate to the extent of the sums paid. 

Amounts held by the Paying Agent/Registrar which represent principal of the Certificates 

remaining unclaimed by the Owner after the expiration of three years from the date such amounts 

have become due and payable shall be reported and disposed of by the Paying Agent/Registrar in 

accordance with the applicable provisions of Texas law including, to the extent applicable, Title 6 

of the Texas Property Code, as amended. 

11. Registration, Transfer, and Exchange.  So long as any Certificates remain 

outstanding, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Register at its principal payment office in 

Houston, Texas and, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Paying 

Agent/Registrar shall provide for the registration and transfer of Certificates in accordance with 

the terms of this Ordinance.  The Issuance Date of each Certificate originally delivered to and paid 

for by TWDB shall be recorded in the Register. 

Each Certificate shall be transferable only upon the presentation and surrender thereof at 

the principal payment office of the Paying Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas, duly endorsed for 

transfer, or accompanied by an assignment duly executed by the registered Owner or his authorized 

representative in form satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar.  Upon due presentation of any 

Certificate for transfer, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange 

therefor, within three (3) Business Days after such presentation, a new Certificate or Certificates, 

registered in the name of the transferee or transferees, in authorized denominations and of the same 

maturity, aggregate principal amount, and Issuance Date, bearing interest at the same rate as the 

Certificate or Certificates so presented. 

All Certificates shall be exchangeable upon presentation and surrender thereof at the 

principal payment office of the Paying Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas, for a Certificate or 

Certificates of the same maturity, Issuance Date, and interest rate and in any authorized 

denomination, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid principal amount of the 

Certificate or Certificates presented for exchange.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall be and is 

hereby authorized to authenticate and deliver exchange Certificates in accordance with the 

provisions of this Section.  Each Certificate delivered in accordance with this Section shall be 

entitled to the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Certificate or 

Certificates in lieu of which such Certificate is delivered. 

The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Owner of any Certificate to pay a 

sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in connection 

with the transfer or exchange of such Certificate.  Any fee or charge of the Paying Agent/Registrar 

for such transfer or exchange shall be paid by the City. 

12. Mutilated, Lost, or Stolen Certificates.  Upon the presentation and surrender to the 

Paying Agent/Registrar of a mutilated Certificate, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate 

and deliver in exchange therefor a replacement Certificate of like maturity, Issuance Date, interest 

rate and principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding.  If any 

Certificate is lost, apparently destroyed, or wrongfully taken, the City, pursuant to the applicable 

Page 85

ITEM #8.



-8- 
#8000053.5 

laws of the State of Texas and in the absence of notice or knowledge that such Certificate has been 

acquired by a bona fide purchaser, shall authorize and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall 

authenticate and deliver a replacement Certificate of like maturity, Issuance Date, interest rate and 

principal amount, bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding. 

The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Owner of a mutilated Certificate 

to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in 

connection therewith and any other expenses connected therewith, including the fees and expenses 

of the Paying Agent/Registrar. 

The City or the Paying Agent/Registrar may require the Owner of a lost, apparently 

destroyed or wrongfully taken Certificate, before any replacement Certificate is issued, to: 

(1) furnish to the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar satisfactory 

evidence of the ownership of and the circumstances of the loss, destruction or theft 

of such Certificate; 

(2) furnish such security or indemnity as may be required by the Paying 

Agent/Registrar and the City to save them harmless; 

(3) pay all expenses and charges in connection therewith, including, but 

not limited to, printing costs, legal fees, fees of the Paying Agent/Registrar and any 

tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed; and 

(4) meet any other reasonable requirements of the City and the Paying 

Agent/Registrar. 

If, after the delivery of such replacement Certificate, a bona fide purchaser of the original 

Certificate in lieu of which such replacement Certificate was issued presents for payment such 

original Certificate, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to recover such 

replacement Certificate from the person to whom it was delivered or any person taking therefrom, 

except a bona fide purchaser, and shall be entitled to recover upon the security or indemnity 

provided therefor to the extent of any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred by the City or the 

Paying Agent/Registrar in connection therewith. 

If any such mutilated, lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken Certificate has 

become or is about to become due and payable, the City in its discretion may, instead of issuing a 

replacement Certificate, authorize the Paying Agent/Registrar to pay such Certificate. 

Each replacement Certificate delivered in accordance with this Section shall be entitled to 

the benefits and security of this Ordinance to the same extent as the Certificate or Certificates in 

lieu of which such replacement Certificate is delivered. 

13. Cancellation of Certificates.  All Certificates paid in accordance with this 

Ordinance, and all Certificates in lieu of which exchange Certificates or replacement Certificates 

are authenticated and delivered in accordance herewith, shall be canceled and destroyed upon the 

Page 86

ITEM #8.



-9- 
#8000053.5 

making of proper records regarding such payment.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall furnish the 

City with appropriate certificates of destruction of such Certificates. 

14. Book-Entry System.  The Initial Certificates shall be delivered against payment to 

the TWDB.  The TWDB shall be required to promptly surrender the Initial Certificates to the 

Paying Agent/Registrar for exchange.  Certificates issued in exchange shall be registered in the 

name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, as registered owner of the Certificates, and held in the 

custody of DTC.  Unless otherwise requested by DTC, a single certificate will be issued and 

delivered to DTC for each maturity of the Certificates.  Beneficial owners of Certificates will not 

receive physical delivery of Certificates except as provided hereinafter.  For so long as DTC shall 

continue to serve as securities depository for the certificates as provided herein, all transfers of 

beneficial ownership interest will be made by book-entry only, and no investor or other party 

purchasing, selling or otherwise transferring beneficial ownership of Certificates is to receive, hold 

or deliver any Certificate. 

With respect to Certificates registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the 

City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC 

participant or any person on whose behalf a DTC participant holds an interest in the Certificates.  

Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar 

shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, 

Cede & Co., or any DTC participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Certificates, 

(ii) the delivery to any DTC participant or any other person, other than a registered owner of the 

Certificates, as shown on the Register, of any notice with respect to the Certificates, including any 

notice of redemption, and (iii) the payment of any DTC participant or any other person, other than 

a registered owner of the Certificates, as shown on the Register, of any amount with respect to 

principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the Certificates. 

Replacement Certificates may be issued directly to beneficial owners of Certificates other 

than DTC, or its nominee, but only in the event that (i) DTC determines not to continue to act as 

securities depository for the Certificates (which determination shall become effective no less than 

90 days after written notice to such effect to the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar); or (ii) the 

City has advised DTC of its determination (which determination is conclusive as to DTC and the 

beneficial owners of the Certificates) that the interests of the beneficial owners of the Certificates 

might be adversely affected if such book-entry only system of transfer is continued.  Upon 

occurrence of any of the foregoing events, the City shall use its best efforts to attempt to locate 

another qualified securities depository.  If the City fails to locate another qualified securities 

depository to replace DTC, the City shall cause to be authenticated and delivered replacement 

Certificates, in certificate form, to the beneficial owners of the Certificates.  In the event that the 

City makes the determination noted in (ii) above (provided that the City undertakes no obligation 

to make any investigation to determine the occurrence of any events that would permit the City to 

make any such determination), and has made provisions to notify the beneficial owners of 

Certificates of such determination by mailing an appropriate notice to DTC, it shall cause to be 

issued replacement Certificates in certificate form to beneficial owners of the Certificates as shown 

on the records of DTC provided to the City. 

Whenever, during the term of the Certificates, the beneficial ownership thereof is 

determined by a book entry at DTC, the requirements in this Ordinance of holding, delivering or 

Page 87

ITEM #8.



-10- 
#8000053.5 

transferring Certificates shall be deemed modified to require the appropriate person or entity to 

meet the requirements of DTC as to registering or transferring the book entry to produce the same 

effect. 

If at any time, DTC ceases to hold the Certificates as securities depository, all references 

herein to DTC shall be of no further force or effect. 

Before the City can discontinue the book-entry-only system of registration through DTC, 

notice must be given to the TWDB and prior written consent of the TWDB must be received by 

the City. 

15. Optional Redemption; Defeasance.  (a)   The Certificates are subject to optional 

redemption as set forth in the Form of Certificate in this Ordinance. 

Principal amounts may be redeemed only in integral multiples of $5,000.  If a Certificate 

subject to redemption is in a denomination larger than $5,000, a portion of such Certificate may 

be redeemed, but only in integral multiples of $5,000.  Upon surrender of any Certificate for 

redemption in part, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver in exchange therefor 

a Certificate or Certificates of like maturity, Issuance Date, and interest rate in an aggregate 

principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Certificate so surrendered. 

Notice of any redemption identifying the Certificates to be redeemed in whole or in part 

shall be given by the Paying Agent/Registrar at least 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption 

by sending written notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the Owner of each Certificate to 

be redeemed in whole or in part at the address shown on the Register.  Such notices shall state the 

redemption date, the redemption price, the place at which Certificates are to be surrendered for 

payment and, if less than all Certificates outstanding of a particular maturity are to be redeemed, 

the numbers of the Certificates or portions thereof of such maturity to be redeemed.  Any notice 

given as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether 

or not the Owner receives such notice.  By the date fixed for redemption, due provision shall be 

made with the Paying Agent/Registrar for payment of the redemption price of the Certificates or 

portions thereof to be redeemed.  When Certificates have been called for redemption in whole or 

in part and due provision has been made to redeem the same as herein provided, the Certificates 

or portions thereof so redeemed shall no longer be regarded as outstanding except for the purpose 

of receiving payment solely from the funds so provided for redemption, and the rights of the 

Owners to collect interest which would otherwise accrue after the redemption date on any 

Certificate or portion thereof called for redemption shall terminate on the date fixed for 

redemption. 

The City reserves the right, in the case of a redemption, to give notice of its election or 

direction to redeem Certificates conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events.  Such 

notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or 

authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with 

the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the 

redemption date, or (ii) that the City retains the right to rescind such notice at any time on or prior 

to the scheduled redemption date if the City delivers a certificate of the City to the Paying 

Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice and such 

Page 88

ITEM #8.



-11- 
#8000053.5 

notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so 

deposited or if the notice is rescinded.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of 

any such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected Owners.  Any Certificate 

subject to conditional redemption and such redemption has been rescinded shall remain 

outstanding.    

(b) The Certificates may be discharged, defeased, redeemed or refunded in any manner 

now or hereafter permitted by law. 

16. Forms.  The form of the Certificates, including the form of the Paying 

Agent/Registrar’s Authentication Certificate, the form of Assignment, and the form of Registration 

Certificate of the Comptroller shall be, respectively, substantially as follows, with such additions, 

deletions and variations as may be necessary or desirable and not prohibited by this Ordinance: 

(a) Form of Certificate. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF MATAGORDA 

 

REGISTERED 

NUMBER 

_____ 

REGISTERED 

DENOMINATION 

$________ 

 

CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS 

TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION 

SERIES 2021B 

MATURITY 

DATE: 

DATED  

DATE: 

ISSUANCE 

DATE: CUSIP NO.: 

September 1, 20__ April 1, 2021 April 13, 2021 ______ ___ 

 

REGISTERED OWNER: 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: DOLLARS 

THE CITY OF BAY CITY, TEXAS (the “City”) promises to pay to the registered owner 

identified above, or registered assigns, on the maturity date specified above, upon presentation and 

surrender of this Certificate at Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Amegy Bank Division, 

(the “Paying Agent/Registrar”), at its principal payment office in Houston, Texas, the principal 

amount identified above, payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which 

on the date of payment of such principal is legal tender for the payment of debts due the United 

States of America, and to pay interest thereon at the rate shown above, calculated on the basis of 

a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months, from the later of the Issuance Date identified above, or 

the most recent interest payment date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for.  Interest 

on this Certificate is payable by check on March 1 and September 1, beginning on September 1, 

Page 89

ITEM #8.



-12- 
#8000053.5 

2021, mailed to the registered owner as shown on the books of registration kept by the Paying 

Agent/Registrar as of the fifteenth day of the month next preceding each interest payment date; 

provided, however, that for so long as the Texas Water Development Board (“TWDB”) is the 

Owner of the Certificates, all payments of principal and interest will be made in wire transfer form 

at no cost to the TWDB. 

THIS CERTIFICATE is dated April 1, 2021 and is one of a series of fully registered 

certificates specified in the title hereof issued in the aggregate principal amount of $2,125,000 

(herein referred to as the “Certificates”), for the purpose of evidencing the indebtedness of the City 

for all or any part of the costs associated with the improvements to the City’s water system, 

including the planning, acquisition, design and construction of two water plants, including water 

wells, ground storage tanks, hydropneumatic tanks, booster pump stations, disinfection equipment, 

and related infrastructure and equipment, water transmission lines, water meter replacements, and  

the costs of professional services related thereto, issued in accordance with the Constitution and 

laws of the State of Texas, particularly Subchapter C, Chapter 271, Texas Local Government 

Code, as amended, pursuant to an ordinance duly adopted by the City Council of the City (the 

“Ordinance”), which Ordinance is of record in the official minutes of the City Council. 

THE CITY RESERVES THE RIGHT to redeem Certificates maturing on and after 

September 1, 2032, prior to their scheduled maturities, in whole or from time to time in part, in 

inverse order of maturity, in integral multiples of $5,000, on September 1, 2031, or any date 

thereafter at par.  Reference is made to the Ordinance for complete details concerning the manner 

of redeeming the Certificates. 

NOTICE OF ANY REDEMPTION shall be given at least 30 days prior to the date fixed 

for redemption by first class mail, addressed to the registered owner of each Certificate to be 

redeemed in whole or in part at the address shown on the books of registration kept by the Paying 

Agent/Registrar.  When Certificates or portions thereof have been called for redemption, and due 

provision has been made to redeem the same, the principal amounts so redeemed shall be payable 

solely from the funds provided for redemption, and interest which would otherwise accrue on the 

amounts called for redemption shall terminate on the date fixed for redemption, if any. 

THE CITY RESERVES THE RIGHT, in the case of a redemption, to give notice of its 

election or direction to redeem Certificates conditioned upon the occurrence of subsequent events.  

Such notice may state (i) that the redemption is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys and/or 

authorized securities, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with 

the Paying Agent/Registrar, or such other entity as may be authorized by law, no later than the 

redemption date, or (ii) that the City retains the right to rescind such notice at any time on or prior 

to the scheduled redemption date if the City delivers a certificate of the City to the Paying 

Agent/Registrar instructing the Paying Agent/Registrar to rescind the redemption notice and such 

notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys and/or authorized securities are not so 

deposited or if the notice is rescinded.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give prompt notice of 

any such rescission of a conditional notice of redemption to the affected Owners.  Any Certificates 

subject to conditional redemption and such redemption has been rescinded shall remain 

outstanding. 

Page 90

ITEM #8.



-13- 
#8000053.5 

THIS CERTIFICATE is transferable only upon presentation and surrender at the principal 

payment office of the Paying Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas, duly endorsed for transfer or 

accompanied by an assignment duly executed by the registered owner or his authorized 

representative, subject to the terms and conditions of the Ordinance. 

THIS CERTIFICATE is exchangeable at the principal payment office of the Paying 

Agent/Registrar in Houston, Texas, for certificates in the principal amount of $5,000 or any 

integral multiple thereof, subject to the terms and conditions of the Ordinance. 

THIS CERTIFICATE shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

benefit under the Ordinance unless this Certificate is either (i) registered by the Comptroller of 

Public Accounts of the State of Texas by registration certificate attached or affixed hereto or 

(ii) authenticated by the Paying Agent/Registrar by due execution of the authentication certificate 

endorsed hereon. 

THE REGISTERED OWNER of this Certificate, by acceptance hereof, acknowledges and 

agrees to be bound by all the terms and conditions of the Ordinance. 

THE CITY has covenanted in the Ordinance that it will at all times provide a legally 

qualified paying agent/registrar for the Certificates and will cause notice of any change of paying 

agent/registrar to be mailed to each registered owner. 

IT IS HEREBY certified, recited and covenanted that this Certificate has been duly and 

validly issued and delivered; that all acts, conditions and things required or proper to be performed, 

to exist and to be done precedent to or in the issuance and delivery of this Certificate have been 

performed, exist and have been done in accordance with law; and that annual ad valorem taxes, 

within the limits prescribed by law, sufficient to provide for the payment of the interest, if any, on 

and principal of this Certificate, as such interest comes due and such principal matures, have been 

levied and ordered to be levied against all taxable property in the City. 

IT IS FURTHER certified, recited and represented that the Surplus Revenues (as defined 

in the Ordinance) to be derived from the operation of the City’s System (as defined in the 

Ordinance), are pledged to the payment of the Certificates.  The City reserves the right to issue, 

for any lawful purpose at any time, in one or more installments, bonds, certificates of obligation 

and other obligations of any kind payable in whole or in part from the Surplus Revenues, secured 

by a pledge of the Surplus Revenues that may be on a parity with, or junior and subordinate to the 

pledge of Surplus Revenues securing the Certificates. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate has been signed with the manual or facsimile 

signature of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem of the City and countersigned with the manual or 

facsimile signature of the City Secretary of the City, and the official seal of the City has been duly 

impressed, or placed in facsimile, on this Certificate. 

 

   

Page 91

ITEM #8.



-14- 
#8000053.5 

City Secretary 

City of Bay City, Texas 

 Mayor [Pro Tem] 1 

City of Bay City, Texas 

 

[SEAL] 

  

                                                 
1 Delete if the Mayor executes the Initial Certificate. 

Page 92

ITEM #8.



-15- 
#8000053.5 

(b) Form of Registration Certificate of Comptroller. 

COMPTROLLER’S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE: REGISTER NO. ___________ 

I hereby certify that this Certificate has been examined, certified as to validity, and 

approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this Certificate has been registered 

by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas. 

WITNESS MY SIGNATURE AND SEAL this _______________________________. 

 

 

Comptroller of Public Accounts of 

the State of Texas 

(SEAL) 

 

(c) Form of Paying Agent/Registrar’s Authentication Certificate. 

AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE 

It is hereby certified that this Certificate has been delivered pursuant to the Ordinance 

described in the text of this Certificate. 

ZIONS BANCORPORATION, NATIONAL 

ASSOCIATION, AMEGY BANK DIVISION, 

as Paying Agent/Registrar 

By:  

 Authorized Signature 

  

Date of Authentication:  

(d) Form of Assignment. 

ASSIGNMENT 

 For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto  

   

   
(Please print or type name, address, and zip code of Transferee) 

   
(Please insert Social Security or Taxpayer Identification Number of Transferee) 

the within Certificate and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

   

Page 93

ITEM #8.



-16- 
#8000053.5 

attorney to transfer said Certificate on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of 

substitution in the premises. 

 

DATED:    

   

   

Signature Guaranteed:   

  Registered Owner 

  NOTICE:  The signature above must 

correspond to the name of the registered 

owner as shown on the face of this 

Certificate in every particular, without any 

alteration, enlargement or change 

whatsoever. 

  

 

 

NOTICE:  Signature must be guaranteed by a 

member firm of the New York Stock Exchange 

or a commercial bank or trust company. 

  

 

(e) The Initial Certificate shall be in the form set forth in paragraphs (a), (b) and (d) of 

this Section, except for the following alterations: 

(i) immediately under the name of the Certificate, the heading 

“MATURITY DATE” shall be completed with the words “As Shown Below” and 

the words “CUSIP NO.” deleted; 

(ii) in the first paragraph of the Certificate, the words “on the Maturity 

Date specified above” shall be deleted and the following shall be inserted after the 

last sentence in the first paragraph, “The principal shall be paid in installments on 

September 1 in each of the years and in the principal amounts identified in the 

following schedule:” 

[Information to be inserted from schedule in Section 5] 

(iii) the Initial Certificate shall be numbered I-1. 

17. CUSIP Numbers.  CUSIP Numbers may be printed on the Certificates, but errors 

or omissions in the printing of such numbers shall have no effect on the validity of the Certificates. 

18. Interest and Sinking Fund; Tax Levy.  The proceeds from all taxes levied, assessed 

and collected for and on account of the Certificates authorized by this Ordinance shall be deposited, 

as collected, in a special fund to be designated “City of Bay City, Texas, Tax and Surplus Revenue 

Certificates of Obligation, Series 2021B (DWSRF) Interest and Sinking Fund”.  While the 

Certificates or any part of the principal thereof or interest thereon remain outstanding and unpaid, 

there is hereby levied and there shall be annually levied, assessed and collected in due time, form 

and manner, and at the same time other City taxes are levied, assessed and collected, in each year, 

a continuing direct annual ad valorem tax, within the limits prescribed by law, upon all taxable 

property in the City sufficient to pay the current interest on the Certificates as the same becomes 

Page 94

ITEM #8.



-17- 
#8000053.5 

due, and to provide and maintain a sinking fund adequate to pay the principal of the Certificates 

as such principal matures, but never less than two percent (2%) of the original principal amount of 

the Certificates each year, full allowance being made for delinquencies and costs of collection, and 

such taxes when collected shall be applied to the payment of the interest on and principal of the 

Certificates and to no other purpose. 

To pay the debt service coming due on the Certificates prior to the receipt of the taxes 

levied to pay such debt serviced, there is hereby appropriated from current funds on hand, which 

are hereby certified to be on hand and available for such purpose, an amount sufficient to pay such 

debt service, and such amount shall be used for no other purpose. 

19. Pledge of Revenues. 

(a) The Surplus Revenues to be derived from the operation of the System are hereby 

pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Certificates as the same come due.  

The City also reserves the right to issue, for any lawful purpose at any time, in one or more 

installments, bonds, certificates of obligation and other obligations of any kind payable in whole 

or in part from the Surplus Revenues, secured by a pledge of the Surplus Revenues that may be 

senior to, on a parity with, or junior and subordinate to the pledge of Surplus Revenues securing 

the Certificates. 

(b) While the Certificates are outstanding, the City will at all times maintain sufficient 

rates and charges for the payment of the maintenance and operation expenses of the System and, 

to the extent that ad valorem taxes are not available for such purpose, the City will at all times 

maintain sufficient rates and charges to produce revenues not less than 1.10 times the annual debt 

service obligations of all outstanding obligations of the City secured in whole or in part by the 

Surplus Revenues of the System for which the City is budgeting to make payments from Surplus 

Revenues, for the payment of debt service on the Certificates. Upon the written request of the 

TWDB, the City shall provide documentation that evidences the levy of ad valorem taxes for the 

payment of debt service on the Certificates or information demonstrating that the City has 

budgeted Surplus Revenues of the System or other lawfully available revenues sufficient for the 

payment of debt service on the Certificates. 

(c) If System revenues are actually on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund in 

advance of the time when ad valorem taxes are scheduled to be levied for any year, the amount of 

taxes that otherwise would have been required to be levied may be reduced to the extent and by 

the amount of revenues then on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund. 

(d) If the City does not levy taxes in any year as provided in Section 18 and Section 

19(c) above, the City shall transfer and deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund each month an 

amount of not less than 1/12th of the annual debt service on the Certificates until the amount on 

deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund equals the amount required for annual debt service on the 

Certificates and the City shall not transfer Surplus Revenues from the System to any fund other 

than the Interest and Sinking Fund until such times as an amount equal to the annual debt service 

on the Certificates for the then current fiscal year has been deposited in the Interest and Sinking 

Fund. 

Page 95

ITEM #8.



-18- 
#8000053.5 

(e) Each year that the Certificates are outstanding, and prior to the time taxes are to be 

levied for such year, the City shall establish, adopt, and maintain an annual budget that provides 

for the monthly deposit of sufficient Surplus Revenues, the monthly deposit of any other legally 

available funds on hand at the time of the adoption of the annual budget, the deposit of tax 

revenues, or a combination thereof, into the Interest and Sinking Fund for the payment of debt 

service on the Certificates. 

20. Application of Chapter 1208, Government Code.  Chapter 1208, Government 

Code, applies to the issuance of the Certificates and the pledge of the taxes and revenues granted 

by the City under Sections 18 and 19 of this Ordinance, and such pledge is therefore valid, effective 

and perfected.  If Texas law is amended at any time while the Certificates are outstanding and 

unpaid such that the pledge of the taxes and revenues granted by the City under Sections 18 and 

19 of this Ordinance is to be subject to the filing requirements of Chapter 9, Business & Commerce 

Code, then in order to preserve to the registered owners of the Certificates the perfection of the 

security interest in said pledge, the City agrees to take such measures as it determines are 

reasonable and necessary under Texas law to comply with the applicable provisions of Chapter 9, 

Business & Commerce Code and enable a filing to perfect the security interest in said pledge to 

occur. 

21. Further Proceedings.  After the Initial Certificate has been executed, it shall be the 

duty of the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem of the City to deliver the Initial Certificate and all pertinent 

records and proceedings to the Attorney General of Texas, for examination and approval.  After 

the Initial Certificate has been approved by the Attorney General, it shall be delivered to the 

Comptroller for registration.  Upon registration of the Initial Certificate, the Comptroller (or a 

deputy lawfully designated in writing to act for the Comptroller) shall manually sign the 

Comptroller’s Registration Certificate prescribed herein to be affixed or attached to the Certificates 

to be initially issued, and the seal of said Comptroller shall be impressed, or placed in facsimile, 

thereon. 

22. Sale.  The Certificates are hereby sold and shall be delivered to the TWDB, as soon 

as practicable after adoption of this Ordinance, at a price of par, subject to the approval of the 

Attorney General of Texas and Bond Counsel. At the time the Certificates are delivered to the 

TWDB, the City shall pay an origination fee to the TWDB equal to [__________%] 

([$__________]) of the Project costs, in accordance with the rules of the TWDB.  The Mayor or 

Mayor Pro Tem and other appropriate officers, agents and representatives of the City are hereby 

authorized to do any and all things necessary or desirable to provide for the issuance and delivery 

of the Certificates. 

23. Books and Records.  So long as any of the Certificates are outstanding the City 

covenants and agrees that it will keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and 

correct entries will be made of all transactions relating to the Certificates and the funds created 

pursuant to this Ordinance, and all books, documents and vouchers relating thereto shall at all 

reasonable times be made available for inspection upon request of any Owner. 

Page 96

ITEM #8.



-19- 
#8000053.5 

24. Provisions Concerning Federal Income Tax Matters. 

(a) General.  The City covenants not to take any action or omit to take any action that, 

if taken or omitted, would cause the interest on the Certificates to be includable in gross income 

for federal income tax purposes. In furtherance thereof, the City covenants to comply with sections 

103 and 141 through 150 of the Code and the provisions set forth in the Federal Tax Certificate 

executed by the City in connection with the Certificates. 

(b) No Private Activity Bonds.  The City covenants that it will use the proceeds of the 

Certificates (including investment income) and the property financed, directly or indirectly, with 

such proceeds so that the Certificates will not be “private activity bonds” within the meaning of 

section 141 of the Code.  Furthermore, the City will not take a deliberate action (as defined in 

section 1.141-2(d)(3) of the Regulations) that causes the Certificates to be a “private activity bond” 

unless it takes a remedial action permitted by section 1.141-12 of the Regulations. 

(c) No Federal Guarantee.  The City covenants not to take any action or omit to take 

any action that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Certificates to be “federally guaranteed” 

within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code, except as permitted by section 149(b)(3) of the 

Code. 

(d) No Hedge Bonds. The City covenants not to take any action or omit to take action 

that, if taken or omitted, would cause the Certificates to be “hedge bonds” within the meaning of 

section 149(g) of the Code.   

(e) No Arbitrage Bonds.  The City covenants that it will make such use of the proceeds 

of the Certificates (including investment income) and regulate the investment of such proceeds of 

the Certificates so that the Certificates will not be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of section 

148(a) of the Code.   

(f) Required Rebate.  The City covenants that, if the City does not qualify for an 

exception to the requirements of section 148(f) of the Code, the City will comply with the 

requirement that certain amounts earned by the City on the investment of the gross proceeds of the 

Certificates, be rebated to the United States.   

(g) Information Reporting.  The City covenants to file or cause to be filed with the 

Secretary of the Treasury an information statement concerning the Certificates in accordance with 

section 149(e) of the Code. 

(h) Record Retention.  The City covenants to retain all material records relating to the 

expenditure of the proceeds (including investment income) of the Certificates and the use of the 

property financed, directly or indirectly, thereby until six years after the last Certificate is redeemed 

or paid at maturity (or such other period as provided by subsequent guidance issued by the 

Department of the Treasury) in a manner that ensures their complete access throughout such 

retention period.   

(i) Registration.  If the Certificates are “registration-required bonds” under section 

149(a)(2) of the Code, the Certificates will be issued in registered form. 

Page 97

ITEM #8.



-20- 
#8000053.5 

(j) Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City will 

not be required to comply with any of the federal tax covenants set forth above if the City has 

received an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that such noncompliance will not 

adversely affect the excludability of interest on the Certificates from gross income for federal 

income tax purposes. 

(k) Continuing Compliance.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, 

the City’s obligations under the federal tax covenants set forth above will survive the defeasance 

and discharge of the Certificates for as long as such matters are relevant to the excludability of 

interest on the Certificates from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

(l) Official Intent.  For purposes of section 1.150-2(d) of the Regulations, to the extent 

that an official intent to reimburse has not previously been adopted by the City, this Ordinance 

serves as the City’s official declaration of intent to use proceeds of the Certificates to reimburse 

itself from proceeds of the Certificates issued in the maximum amount for certain expenditures 

paid in connection with the projects set forth herein.  Any such reimbursement will only be made 

(i) for an original expenditure paid no earlier than 60 days prior to the date hereof and (ii) not later 

than 18 months after the later of (A) the date the original expenditure is paid or (B) the date of 

with the project to which such expenditure relates is placed in service or abandoned, but in to event 

more than three years after the original expenditure is paid. 

(m) Source Series Bonds.  The City covenants that neither the City nor a related party 

thereto will acquire any of the TWDB’s Source Series Bonds in an amount related to the amount 

of the Certificates to be acquired from the City by the TWDB. 

(n) Advanced Refunding.  The City covenants to refrain from using the proceeds of the 

Certificates to pay debt service on another issue more than 90 days after the date of issue of the 

Certificates in contravention of the requirements of section 149(d) of the Code. 

25. TWDB Resolution.  The City agrees to comply with the applicable provisions of 

TWDB Resolution No. 21-______, which authorized the financial assistance evidenced by the 

Certificates.   

26. Escrow Agreement.  To facilitate the delivery of and payment for the Certificates 

pending completion of review of plans and specifications, the City Council hereby authorizes an 

Escrow Agreement to be entered into by and between the City and the Escrow Agent, the terms 

and conditions of which are hereby approved, subject to such insertions, additions, and 

modifications as shall be necessary to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and procedures 

and to carry out the intent and purposes of this Ordinance.  The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem and the 

City Secretary are authorized to execute and deliver such Escrow Agreement in multiple 

counterparts on behalf of the City. 

27. Project Fund.  There is hereby created and established a special fund of the City, to 

be known as the “City of Bay City, Texas, Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, 

Series 2021B (DWSRF) Project Fund,” which shall be established at an official depository of the 

City and kept separate and apart from other funds of the City.  The proceeds of the Certificates, 

shall be deposited in the escrow account for the Certificates that is maintained by the Escrow Agent 

Page 98

ITEM #8.



-21- 
#8000053.5 

for the benefit of the City and TWDB under and as more specifically provided in the Escrow 

Agreement. Upon release from the escrow account, such proceeds shall be deposited and held in 

the Project Fund until used for authorized purposes. The proceeds of the Certificates, as received, 

shall be deposited in the Project Fund.  Money on deposit in the Project Fund and all interest, and 

income derived therefrom shall be used only for the purposes set forth in Section 3 of this 

Ordinance and to pay costs of issuance.  Money on deposit in the Project Fund, may, at the option 

of the City, be invested as permitted by Texas law including, particularly, the Public Funds 

Investment Act, Texas Government Code, Chapter 2256, and the Public Funds Collateral Act, 

Texas Government Code, Chapter 2257; provided that all such deposits and investments shall be 

made in such manner that the money required to be expended from the Project Fund will be 

available at the proper time or times. Certificate proceeds deposited in the Project Fund shall be 

timely and expeditiously used, in accordance with the schedule for the Project approved by the 

TWDB, as may be amended from time to time.  The City will maintain project accounts in 

accordance with generally accepted government accounting standards, including standards related 

to the reporting of infrastructure assets. 

28. TWDB Rules.  In compliance with the published rules and regulations of the 

TWDB, the City covenants and agrees that upon final completion of the project to be financed 

with the proceeds of the Certificates, and if all or any portion of the Certificates shall be held by 

or on account of the TWDB or the State of Texas, the proper officials of the City shall render due 

and final accounting to the TWDB of the total cost of the Project and provide a copy of as-built 

plans for the Project.  If, following completion of the Project, funds remain on hand in the Project 

Fund, or if the TWDB Executive Administrator (the “Executive Administrator”) disapproves 

construction of any portion of the Project as not being in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, the City shall use any remaining funds for enhancements to the Project that are 

approved by the Executive Administrator, or, if no enhancements are authorized by the Executive 

Administrator, the City shall submit to the TWDB a final accounting and describe the proposed 

disposition of the any unused funds.  If any funds are determined to be surplus funds remaining 

after the completion of the Project and the completion of a final accounting, such surplus funds 

shall be used for purposes approved by the Executive Administrator.  Unless otherwise stated in 

the loan commitment of the TWDB with respect to the purchase of the Certificates, in determining 

the amount of available funds for constructing the Project to be financed, the City shall account 

for all monies in the Project Fund, including all loan funds extended by the TWDB, all other funds 

available from the Project as described in the Project engineer’s sufficiency of funds statement 

required for closing the TWDB’s loan and all interest, earned by the City on money in the Project 

Fund.  This requirement shall not be interpreted as prohibiting the TWDB from enforcing such 

other rights as it may have under law. 

29. Outlay Reports.  The City agrees to submit outlay reports with sufficient 

documentation on costs on a quarterly or monthly basis in accordance with TWDB outlay report 

guidelines. 

30. Environmental Indemnification.  The City shall not use proceeds from the sale of 

the Certificates for sampling, testing, removing or disposing of contaminated soils and/or media 

at the Project site. To the extent permitted by law, the City agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and 

protect the TWDB from any and all claims, causes of action or damages to the person or property 

Page 99

ITEM #8.



-22- 
#8000053.5 

of third parties arising from the sampling, analysis, transport, storage, treatment and disposition of 

any contaminated sewage sludge, contaminated sediments and/or contaminated media that may be 

generated by the City, its contractors, consultants, agents, officials and employees as a result of 

activities relating to the Project. 

31. Insurance.  The City covenants that the Project will be kept continually insured 

against such perils in an amount sufficient to protect the TWDB’s interest in the Project, to the 

extent that insurance is customarily carried by cities operating similar facilities in similar locations; 

provided, however, that the City shall not be required to maintain such insurance so long as 

builders risk insurance covering such facilities during the period of construction is in effect. 

32. Compliance with Rules and Statutes.  The City covenants that it will comply with 

TWDB’s rules and relevant state statutes in connection with the sale of the Certificates to TWDB 

and the use of the proceeds in connection with the Project approved by TWDB. 

33. Compliance with Environmental Findings of Executive Administrator.  The City 

covenants that it will comply with the conditions specified in the final environmental finding of 

the Executive Administrator when issued, including the standing emergency discovery conditions 

for threatened and endangered species and cultural resources. 

34. Audited Financial Statements.  The City shall annually submit to the TWDB a copy 

of its audited financial statements, which shall be prepared by a certified public accountant in 

accordance with the accounting principles the City may be required to employ from time to time 

pursuant to State law or regulation. 

35. Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Federal Disadvantaged Business Enterprises 

Program.  Laborers and mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project 

shall be paid wages at rates not less than those prevailing on projects of a similar character in the 

locality in accordance with the Davis-Bacon Act, and the U.S. Department of Labor’s 

implementing regulations. The City, all contractors, and all sub-contractors shall ensure that all 

Project contracts mandate compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act. All contracts and subcontracts 

for the construction of the Project carried out in whole or in part with Certificate proceeds shall 

insert in full in any contract in excess of $2,000 the contracts clauses as provided by the TWDB.  

The City covenants to comply with all applicable State and federal procurement requirements, 

including the federal procurement requirements under the Disadvantaged Business Enterprises 

program. 

36. Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act.  The City shall provide the 

TWDB with all information required to be reported in accordance with the Federal Funding 

Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006, Pub. L. 109-282, as amended by Pub. L. 110-252. 

The City shall obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number and shall register with 

System for Award Management (SAM), and maintain current registration at all times during which 

the Certificates are outstanding. 

37. Use of Iron and Steel Products. The City covenants that it will abide by all 

applicable construction contract requirements related to the use of iron and steel products produced 

Page 100

ITEM #8.



-23- 
#8000053.5 

in the United States, as required by 31 TAC § 375.3, 33 U.S.C. § 1388, and related State Revolving 

Fund Policy Guidelines. 

38. Maintenance of Project Fund.   The City covenants that it will maintain the Project 

Fund in accordance with generally accepted government accounting principles.   

39. Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.   

(a) Annual Reports.  The City agrees to provide to the MSRB, in electronic format, 

accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB, within six months after the 

end of each fiscal year, financial information and operating data with respect to the City of the 

general type included in the City’s annual financial statements. The information will also include 

the audited financial statements of the City, if the City commissions an audit and it is completed 

within the required time.  If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within such 

period, then the City will provide unaudited financial statements within such six month period to 

the MSRB, and audited financial statements if and when the audit report on such statements 

becomes available.  Any financial statements so to be provided shall be prepared in accordance 

with the accounting principles the City may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to 

State law or regulation. All such information and operating data shall be provided to the MSRB, 

in an electronic format, accompanied by identifying information, as prescribed by the MSRB, and 

will be available via the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) System at 

www.emma.msrb.org. 

If the City changes its fiscal year, the City will notify the MSRB of any such change (and 

of the date of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the City would otherwise be 

required to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section. 

All such information and operating data may be provided to the MSRB in full in one or 

more documents, or may be included by specific reference to documents available to the public 

(including an Official Statement or other offering document, if it is available from the MSRB). 

(b) Event Notices.  The City shall provide the following to the MSRB, in an electronic 

format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after 

the occurrence of the event, notice of any of the following events with respect to the Certificates: 

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(2) Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(3) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(4) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(5) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(6) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 

proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue 

(IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with 

Page 101

ITEM #8.



-24- 
#8000053.5 

respect to the tax status of Certificates, or other material events affecting the 

tax status of the Certificates; 

(7) Modifications to rights of the holders of the Certificates, if material; 

(8) Certificate calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(9) Defeasances; 

(10) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 

Certificates, if material; 

(11) Rating changes; 

(12) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City; 

Note to paragraph 12: For the purposes of the event identified in paragraph 

12 of this section, the event is considered to occur when any of the following 

occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the 

City in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other 

proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental 

authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or 

business of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the 

existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject 

to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the 

entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or 

liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or 

jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City. 

(13) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the 

City or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the City, other than 

in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to 

undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement 

relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; 

(14) Appointment of successor or additional paying agent/registrar or the change 

of name of a paying agent/registrar, if material; 

(15) Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the City, if material, or agreement 

to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar 

terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, any of which affect security 

holders, if material; and 

(16) Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or 

other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the City, 

any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

Note to paragraphs (15) and (16):  For purposes of the events identified in 

Page 102

ITEM #8.



-25- 
#8000053.5 

paragraphs (15) and (16) of this section and in the definition of Financial 

Obligation in Section 2, the City intends the words used in such paragraphs 

to have the meanings ascribed to them in SEC Release No. 34-83885 dated 

August 20, 2018 (the “2018 Release”) and any further amendments or 

written guidance provided by the SEC or its staff with respect with respect 

to the amendments to the Rule effected by the 2018 Release. 

The City shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the City to provide 

financial information or operating data in accordance with Section 38(a). All documents provided 

to the MSRB pursuant to this section shall be accompanied by identifying information as 

prescribed by the MSRB. 

(c) Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments.  The City shall be obligated to observe 

and perform the covenants specified in this Section for so long as, but only for so long as, the City 

remains an “obligated person” with respect to the Certificates within the meaning of the Rule, 

except that the City in any event will give notice of any redemption calls and any defeasances that 

cause the City to be no longer an “obligated person.” 

The provisions of this Section are for the sole benefit of the Owners and beneficial owners 

of the Certificates, and nothing in this Section, express or implied, shall give any benefit or any 

legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person.  The City undertakes to 

provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and notices which it 

has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Section and does not hereby undertake to provide 

any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the City’s 

financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any information provided 

in accordance with this Section or otherwise, except as expressly provided herein.  The City does 

not make any representation or warranty concerning such information or its usefulness to a 

decision to invest in or sell Certificates at any future date. 

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO THE OWNER 

OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY CERTIFICATE OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN 

CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM 

ANY BREACH BY THE CITY, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITH OR WITHOUT FAULT 

ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS SECTION, BUT EVERY RIGHT 

AND REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON 

ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR 

MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE. 

No default by the City in observing or performing its obligations under this Section shall 

constitute a breach of or default under this Ordinance for purposes of any other provisions of this 

Ordinance. 

Nothing in this Section is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the 

duties of the City under federal and state securities laws. 

The provisions of this Section may be amended by the City from time to time to adapt to 

changed circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change 

Page 103

ITEM #8.



-26- 
#8000053.5 

in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations of the City, but only if (i) the provisions of this 

Section, as so amended, would have permitted an underwriter to purchase or sell Certificates in 

the primary offering of the Certificates in compliance with the Rule, taking into account any 

amendments or interpretations of the Rule to the date of such amendment, as well as such changed 

circumstances, and (ii) either (A) the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount (or any 

greater amount required by any other provisions of this Ordinance that authorizes such an 

amendment) of the outstanding Certificates consent to such amendment or (B) a person that is 

unaffiliated with the City (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determines that such 

amendment will not materially impair the interests of the Owners and beneficial owners of the 

Certificates.  If the City so amends the provisions of this Section, it shall include with any amended 

financial information or operating data next provided in accordance with Section 34(a) an 

explanation, in narrative form, of the reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change 

in the type of financial information or operating data so provided. 

40. Private Placement Memorandum.  The form and substance of the Private Placement 

Memorandum for the Certificates dated June 23, 2021, and any addenda, supplement or 

amendment thereto (the “Private Placement Memorandum”), presented to and considered at this 

meeting, are hereby in all respects approved and adopted. The proper officials of the City are 

hereby authorized to execute such Private Placement Memorandum as prescribed therein. 

41. Appointment of Initial Paying Agent/Registrar; Paying Agent Registrar 

Agreement.   

(a) Zions Bancorporation, National Association, Amegy Bank Division, Houston, 

Texas, is hereby appointed as the initial Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates.  

(b) The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep such books or records and make such 

transfers and registrations under such reasonable regulations as the City and the Paying 

Agent/Registrar may prescribe; and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make such transfer and 

registrations as herein provided.  It shall be the duty of the Paying Agent/Registrar to obtain from 

the Owners and record in the Register the address of such Owner of each Certificate to which 

payments with respect to the Certificates shall be mailed, as provided herein.  The City or its 

designee shall have the right to inspect the Register during regular business hours of the Paying 

Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Register confidential 

and, unless otherwise required by law, shall not permit their inspection by any other entity. 

(c) The City hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar to act as the paying 

agent for paying the principal of and interest, on the Certificates.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall 

keep proper records of all payments made by the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect 

to the Certificates, and of all conversions, exchanges and replacements of such Certificates, as 

provided in the Ordinance. 

(d) The form of Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement setting forth the duties of the 

Paying Agent/Registrar is hereby approved, and the appropriate officials of the City are hereby 

authorized to execute such agreement for and on behalf of the City. 

42. Maintenance, Termination and Replacement of Paying Agent/Registrar. 

Page 104

ITEM #8.



-27- 
#8000053.5 

(a) At all times while any Certificates are outstanding, the City will maintain a Paying 

Agent/Registrar that is qualified under this Section 41 of the Ordinance. 

(b) If the Paying Agent/Registrar resigns or otherwise ceases to serve as such, the City 

will promptly appoint a replacement, provided no such resignation shall be effective until a 

successor Paying Agent/Registrar has accepted the duties of Paying Agent/Registrar for the 

Certificates. 

(c) Each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank or trust company 

organized under the laws of the State, or any other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to 

serve as and perform the duties and services of paying agent and registrar for the Certificates. 

(d) The City reserves the right to terminate the appointment of any Paying 

Agent/Registrar by (i) delivering to the entity whose appointment is to be terminated forty-five 

(45) days written notice of the termination of the appointment and of the Paying Agent/Registrar 

Agreement, stating the effective date of such termination, and (ii) appointing a successor Paying 

Agent/Registrar; provided, that, no such termination shall be effective until a successor Paying 

Agent/Registrar has assumed the duties of Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates. 

(e) Promptly upon each change in the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar, the 

City will cause notice of the change to be sent to each Owner by United States mail, first class, 

postage prepaid, at the address in the Register, stating the effective date of the change and the 

name and mailing address of the replacement Paying Agent/Registrar. 

(f) By accepting the appointment as Paying Agent/Registrar, the Paying 

Agent/Registrar is deemed to have agreed to the provisions of this Ordinance and that it will 

perform the duties and functions of Paying Agent/Registrar prescribed hereby and under the 

Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement. 

(g) If a Paying Agent/Registrar is replaced, such Paying Agent/Registrar, promptly 

upon the appointment of the successor, will deliver the Register (or a copy thereof) and all other 

pertinent books and records relating to the Certificates to the successor Paying Agent/Registrar. 

43. Remedies.  TWDB shall have all remedies available at law or in equity with respect 

to the Certificates, and any provision of the Certificates that restricts or limits TWDB’s exercise 

of such remedies shall be of no force and effect. 

44. Changes to Ordinance.  Bond Counsel is hereby authorized to make changes to the 

terms of this Ordinance if necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes hereof or in connection 

with the approval of the issuance of the Certificates by the Attorney General of Texas. 

45. Related Matters.  To satisfy in a timely manner all of the City’s obligations under 

this Ordinance, the Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem, the City Secretary and all other appropriate officers 

and agents of the City are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary and/or 

convenient to carry out the terms and purposes of this Ordinance. 

Page 105

ITEM #8.



-28- 
#8000053.5 

46. Individuals Not Liable.  No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement herein 

contained shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of any member 

of City Council or agent or employee of City Council or of the City in his or her individual capacity 

and neither the members of City Council nor any officer thereof, nor any agent or employee of 

City Council or of the City, shall be liable personally on the Certificates, or be subject to any 

personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. 

47. Severability and Savings.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 

Ordinance shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such Section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the 

remaining provisions of this Ordinance. 

48. Repealer.  All ordinances or resolutions, or parts thereof, heretofore adopted by the 

City and inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of 

such conflict. 

49. Force and Effect.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

final passage, and it is so ordered.  This Ordinance completely amends, replaces, and supersedes 

the Original Ordinance. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 

Page 106

ITEM #8.



 

Signature Page to Ordinance No. ______ 

 
#8000053.5 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 9th day of March, 2021, by the City Council of the City 

of Bay City, Texas. 

 

Council Member:  Voted Aye  Voted No  Absent 

 

Robert K. Nelson, 

  

 

    

Mayor 

 

Floyce Brown 

  

 

    

 

James Foles 

  

 

    

 

Brent P. Marceaux 

  

 

    

 

Becca Sitz 

  

 

    

 

Jason W. Childers, 

  

 

    

  Mayor Pro Tem 

 

  

 

        ______________________________ 

        Robert K. Nelson, Mayor 

        City of Bay City 

 

ATTEST: 

        

[SEAL] 

 

___________________________________ 

Jenna Thompson, City Secretary 

City of Bay City 

  

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

City Attorney 

City of Bay City 

 

Page 107

ITEM #8.



 

 

 
#8000053.5 

CERTIFICATE FOR ORDINANCE 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 

COUNTY OF MATAGORDA § 

 

I, the undersigned officer of the City Council of the City of Bay City, Texas, hereby certify 

as follows: 

 

1. The City Council of the City of Bay City, Texas, convened in a regular meeting on 

the 9th day of March, 2021, and the roll was called of the duly constituted officers and members of 

said City Council, to wit: 

 

Robert K. Nelson Mayor 

Floyce Brown Council Member, Position No. 1 

James Foles Council Member, Position No. 2 

Brent Marceau x Council Member, Position No. 3 

Becca Sitz Council Member, Position No. 4 

Jason W. Childers Mayor Pro Temp and Council Member, Position No. 5 

  

 

and all of said persons were present, except the following absentee(s): ______________________, 

thus constituting a quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted at 

said meeting, a written 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY OF BAY 

CITY, TEXAS, TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF 

OBLIGATION, SERIES 2021B (DWSRF); AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND 

DELIVERY OF A PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR AGREEMENT AND AN 

ESCROW AGREEMENT RELATING TO SUCH CERTIFICATES; 

PRESCRIBING THE FORM OF SAID CERTIFICATES; LEVYING A TAX 

AND PLEDGING SURPLUS REVENUES OF THE WATER AND SEWER 

SYSTEM IN PAYMENT THEREOF; AND ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS 

RELATING THERETO 

 

was duly introduced for the consideration of said City Council.  It was then duly moved and 

seconded that said ordinance be adopted; and, after due discussion, said motion, carrying with it 

the adoption of said ordinance, prevailed and carried by the following vote: 

 

 Member(s) of City Council shown present voted “Aye.” 

  

 Member(s) of City Council shown present voted “No.” 

  

 Member(s) of City Council shown present abstained from voting. 

 

Page 108

ITEM #8.



 

-2- 
#8000053.5 

2. A true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid ordinance adopted at the meeting 

described in the above and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this certificate; that said 

ordinance has been duly recorded in said City Council’s minutes of said meeting; that the above 

and foregoing paragraph is a true, full and correct excerpt from said City Council’s minutes of said 

meeting pertaining to the adoption of said ordinance; that the persons named in the above and 

foregoing paragraph are the duly chosen, qualified and acting officers and members of said City 

Council as indicated therein; that each of the officers and members of said City Council was duly 

and sufficiently notified officially and personally, in advance, of the date, hour, place and purpose 

of the aforesaid meeting, and that said ordinance would be introduced and considered for adoption 

at said meeting, and each of said officers and members consented, in advance, to the holding of 

said meeting for such purpose; that said meeting was open to the public as required by law; and 

that public notice of the date, hour, place and subject of said meeting was given as required by 

Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 

 

SIGNED AND SEALED this 9th day of March, 2021. 

 

 

 

 

   

[SEAL]  City Secretary 

City of Bay City, Texas  

 

Page 109

ITEM #8.



Page 110

ITEM #10.


	Top
	ITEM #1.	Workshop Minutes 1/26/21
	City Council Utility Workshop Minutes 210126

	ITEM #2.	Regular Meeting Minutes 1/26/21
	City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 210126

	ITEM #3.	Workshop minutes 210223
	City Council Utility Workshop Minutes 210223

	ITEM #4.	Minutes 210223 Regular Meeting
	City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 210223

	ITEM #5.	HHW Contract Renewal
	HHW - 20200301

	ITEM #6.	Police Department Annual Crime Report
	PD Annual Report 2020
	Racial Profile Rpt

	ITEM #7.	CO Ordinance CWSRF
	DM-#8000046-v7-City_of_Bay_City_-_Certificate_Ordinance_-_CWSRF_(2021A_CO_TWDB)

	ITEM #8.	CO Ordinance DWSRF
	DM-#8000053-v5-City_of_Bay_City_-_Certificate_Ordinance_-_DWSRF_(2021B_CO_TWDB)

	ITEM #9.	Winter Event
	ITEM #10.	Emergency Declaration
	declaration

	ITEM #11.	Maddox
	Bottom

